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Dividend yield June 2019: 5.0%
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Promotion and Development  
an investment company, associate of the MCB Group, is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. It has an 
important asset portfolio with a heavy property bias.

Financial Highlights
 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  change
   

 MRs MRs %

Company net asset value 169.93 175.35  (3.1)
Group net asset value 282.65 274.41  3.0
Share price  103.00 115.00  (10.4)
Dividends per share 5.10 3.60  41.7

Company shareholders’ funds 6.6bn 6.8bn  
Group shareholders’ funds 11.0bn 10.7bn  

Semdex 2,128.40 2,244.64 (5.2)

Performance Summary
 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8

 %  %
 
Net asset value return
Company (0.9) 7.9
Group 4.4 (0.8)
The growth in net asset value plus dividends declared expressed as a percentage of the net asset value at the beginning of the year.

Total shareholder return (7.1) (0.8)
The growth in the share price plus dividends declared during the year as a percentage of the share price at the beginning of the year.

to June 30th 2019 the group the company
  %  %

Annualised returns
5 years 9.6 6.2
10 years* 5.8 4.9
Compound annual total return in terms of increase in net assets plus dividends.

*Net assets prior to 2011 have not been restated in respect of prior year adjustments reflected in the accounts.
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As per the latest IMF World Economic Outlook, the global econ-
omy is currently experiencing a broad-based slowdown amidst 
a sharp decline in manufacturing and investment in the wake, 
notably, of rising trade barriers and increasing geopolitical ten-
sions. As such, the Fund expects global growth to stand at 3.0 
per cent in 2019 – its weakest pace since the global financial cri-
sis – before improving only modestly to 3.4 per cent in 2020, with 
the balance of risks remaining tilted to the downside. As for the 
Mauritian economy, after standing at an estimated 3.8 per cent 
in 2018, real GDP growth is forecast to remain close to this fig-
ure in 2019, underpinned by a strong contribution from national 
investment. At the sectorial level, growth would be driven by an 
appreciable upturn in construction in line with the execution of 
large scale projects and resilient expansions in financial and 
business activities and ICT, while being impacted by subdued 
performances in tourism and the domestic and export-oriented 
manufacturing industries. With regard to 2020, even if public 
sector investment is expected to remain high in absolute terms 
in line with the execution of the Public Sector Investment Pro-
gramme of the authorities, the resulting real growth rate for the 
construction sector would, by virtue of the high base effect, be 
significantly lower than that observed of late. This is likely to 
weigh on the country’s growth performance, with real GDP growth 
foreseen to marginally decelerate, after making allowance for 
mixed outcomes regarding the performance of economic pillars. 

Review of the 
Mauritian Economy

On another note, headline inflation has, in general, pursued a 
downward trajectory in recent times, to stand at 0.9 per cent in 
September 2019. For its part, nationwide unemployment rate is 
anticipated to edge down to attain 6.8 per cent this year as per 
Statistics Mauritius, compared to 6.9 per cent in 2018, although 
apprehensions subsist concerning trends in youth and female 
unemployment. As for the fiscal and debt metrics, they continue 
to warrant attention, the more so given the unsteady operating 
context. On the external front, exports of goods should evolve at 
a tempered pace this year, while a notable hike is forecasted in 
the import bill, partly reflecting the infrastructure-linked invest-
ments. All in all, the trade deficit is, on the heels of latest figures 
released for the first eight months of the year, likely to remain 
elevated, at around 25 per cent of GDP in 2019, thus contribut-
ing to a widening in the current account deficit. The latter would 
impact the country’s balance of payments, which would, none-
theless, remain in a surplus position this year, after factoring in 
sustained inflows on the capital and financial account, inclusive 
inter alia of the project-based disbursement of the tranches relat-
ing to the line of credit received from the Government of India. 
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Reflecting a morose stock market, by end of June 2019, the share 
price of PaD was down to MRs103. The board was concerned that 
this price might not reflect the real value of the company and of 
its potential and hence devised several actions to attempt to 
remedy this situation. 

The board has consequently sharpened its strategy for the 
company, now monitored by the newly renamed Strategy and 
Investment Committee. The latter considers that the strategic 
participations of PaD are streamlined to three main companies 
(Caudan, Medine and MFD), and to a lesser extent EUDCOS which 
has already, as mentioned above, distributed most of its quoted 
investments. At the same time, the company retains an interest 
in various other companies on an opportunistic basis. The board 
hopes that this new focus will enhance the efficiency of its policy.

In the same spirit, the board, through its Remuneration, Cor-
porate Governance and Ethics Committee, has continued the 
upgrade of its governance framework, which is now aligned with 
the Mauritius Code of Corporate Governance, with numerous 
new or amended policies and actions recently put in place; these 
include data protection, whistleblowing policies and a more 
structured board evaluation.

Furthermore, in order to better reflect the intrinsic value of the 
company, the board has approved a new dividend policy with a 
target to pay out approximately 3 per cent of the net asset value 
of the company, subject to accumulated and future earnings 
and to cash availability. As an immediate application, the total 
dividend payout increased from MRs3.60 last year to MRs5.10, 
with a final dividend of MRs1.30 having been declared in Sep-
tember and due in December, following the interim dividends of 
MRs3.80 already paid to date. 

Dear shareholder

In the name of the board, I am happy to report much better fig-
ures for the year 2018/2019. Despite the poor performance of 
the Mauritius Stock Market (minus 5.2 per cent compared to last 
year), which impacted the net asset value of our investments at 
company level, both the company and the Group achieved an 
improved performance compared to the previous year. 

At company level, net profit went up from MRs186.3m to 
MRs362.5m, boosted mainly by the dividend in specie of EUD-
COS (however, merely involving a redistribution of shares, now 
held directly by PaD instead of via EUDCOS and as such not hav-
ing any impact on the cash flows of the company) and the fair 
value surplus on revaluation of our investment property. Notwith-
standing these items, our operating performance was enhanced 
by the positive impact of improved dividend payout from cer-
tain of our investees, offset, however, by an increase in net 
finance costs. On the other hand, the NAV per share of the com-
pany decreased by 3 per cent, from MRs175.35 to MRs169.93, 
reflecting the decline in the market value of some of our major 
investments.

At Group level, we achieved a net profit of MRs306.4m versus 
a loss of MRs102.9m the previous year, attributable largely to 
improved results posted by Medine (whose results were ham-
pered last year by important write downs in the milling and 
agriculture segment in anticipation of the closure of its sugar 
plant and reduced realization of land sales) and to the fair value 
gain on the revaluation of investment property, mostly driven by 
the enhancement in the value of land at Le Caudan Waterfront. 
The Group NAV per share went up to MRs282.65 from MRs274.41 
the previous year. 

Chairperson’s 
Statement
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I will conclude by expressing in the name of the board our sin-
cere thanks to our previous Chairman, Jean Pierre Montocchio, 
who stepped down in December after 14 years in the position, for 
his contribution to the progress of your company all these past 
years. Also we reiterate our deep appreciation of the dedication 
and efforts of the personnel whose hard work has been a key fac-
tor of progress of your company. 

Yours sincerely

Jean-Philippe Coulier
Chairperson

October 28th 2019
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profit was due to the start up operations of the Caudan Arts Cen-
tre and Food and Beverage activities, high levels of vacancy and 
finance costs. You will recall that the prior year reported profit 
benefitted from the impact of bad debts recovered and finance 
income generated as a result of the surplus cash position. This 
year’s finance costs arose as a result of using up the MRs1 billion 
equity raised for Phase 3 while construction progressed. Phase 
3 cost us MRs1 billion which was totally equity financed. As I 
explained last year, we still have to repay the debt incurred in 
building Phase 2. 

Phase 3’s anchor, the Caudan Theatre, opened on the 1st 
December to national acclaim for its three principal components 
– sound, light and stage. This is the first professionally designed 
modern theatre in Mauritius, and, while too many Mauritians still 
believe that theatre is for the elite, the Theatre Manager, Ashish 
Beesoondial, is on a mission to dispel this historical public mis-
conception, much to the delight of those who have attended a 
show for the first time in their lives. Other components of Phase 
3 – conference rooms, parking, and catering – are also picking up 
speed. Only the office space component is slow, but we are partly 
to blame for this because we feel that such is the quality of the 
location that it is best suited to one exclusive tenant, rather than 
a group of smaller ones. We will obviously re-visit this strategy 
from time to time. 

The Caudan Waterfront is currently a hive of activity. The finish-
ing touches are being applied to the Metro Express line, Eclosia’s 
aquarium construction is gathering momentum, and the Victoria 
Urban Terminal project has started. Add to that the cruise termi-
nal development, and the Slavery Museum, which should both 
be starting early next year, and the revamping of the destructive 
Landlord and Tenant Act at the end of 2020, and we potentially 
have a capital city which will not be recognisable in 5 years’ time.

I rarely write about Caudan Security Services (CSS), but I will this 
time. CSS was created for the guarding of the Caudan Waterfront 
in 1996, with a small work force of 27 men. Due to the entre-
preneurial nature of the then manager, Bala Yerriah, CSS took 
on a national dimension, becoming the second largest security 
company on the island, with a turnover in 2019 of MRs283 mil-
lion, and employing 725 people. New labour laws mean that the 
future is all about technology, and we are confident that margins 
will improve when we move away from a labour intensive busi-
ness model.

Dear shareholder

Your company’s net asset value per share (NAV) stood at 
MRs170 at June 30th 2019, compared to MRs175 at the start 
of the financial year, a decrease of 3 per cent. This compares 
with a decrease of 5 per cent in the SEMDEX. Your company’s 
share price fell by 10 per cent during the same period, and the 
shares were trading at a 39 per cent discount to NAV at the end 
of the financial year, but a 64 per cent discount to intrinsic value 
(Group NAV). At the time of writing, the shares are still trading 
at a 30 per cent discount to NAV. The board announced that the 
company would strive to pay a dividend which would represent 
3 per cent of the NAV. The announcement gave an initial boost to 
the share price, but which subsequently settled down. Frankly, 
we feel that this measure should have narrowed the NAV dis-
count more than it did. Unfortunately, markets have their own 
logic. 

Your company’s portfolio has not changed much during the year. 
Then again, why should it? We own some tremendous assets, 
which will only get better with time. Some additions were made, 
and these are more fully elaborated on below, but they do not 
materially affect the portfolio’s profile. 

Caudan Development

Caudan Development (CDL), your 71 per cent owned subsidiary, 
posted a profit before tax of MRs256 million compared to MRs140 
million last year. This includes a contribution of MRs6.7 million 
from Caudan Security Services (CSS) (2018: MRs1.2 million). This 
year’s results include a positive adjustment of MRs197 million in 
respect of the revaluation of investment property, which is, how-
ever, a non-cash item. On the other hand, the reduced underlying 

Managing 
Director’s 
Statement
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principal investments

Company’s principal investments at the time of writing:

 market value  portfolio

 MRsm %

Medine 2,322 29.9

MCB Group 2,101 27.1

Caudan Development 1,525 19.7

MFD Group 441 5.7

EUDCOS 328 4.2

During the year, EUDCOS declared a dividend in specie by way of 
a distribution of some of its quoted investments. This involves 
merely a redistribution of shares which are now held directly by 
your company. 

Major purchases during the year include MRs 153.4m in shares 
of Brainworks, an investment holding company listed on the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange and MRs 33.9m in shares of 
Oceanarium (Mauritius), with a further MRs11m still to be dis-
bursed for the latter. 

Oceanarium is Eclosia’s aquarium project, which will add a 
further element to Port Louis’s already diverse attractions. Brain-
works’s main investments are a number of landmark hotels in 
Zimbabwe. After a very good year last year, which saw a boost in 
the number of visitors to the country after Mugabe’s departure, 
the hotels are currently performing less well, again due to politi-
cal turmoil.  Brainworks’s assets survived 37 years of Mugabe 
misrule, and so they must be resilient.  

Medine 

Medine’s mill has produced sugar for the last time. Although 
it is part of the company’s history, the mill was too much of a 
drain on its finances. Mill closures have historically been highly 
charged politically events, but not this one, with management 
and employees being totally aligned. Medine operating losses for 
the year were reduced by almost MRs100 million, mainly due to 
improved performances from the Agriculture cluster and Casela, 
but the company is not out of the woods yet. Agriculture, the 
sports complex (SPARC), catering and education are still making 
sizeable losses, and these have become priority areas for man-
agement. Casela was a tale of two halves, with performance in 
the first part of the year being better than in the second. There is 
new management there, and they know what the problems are, 
so we are confident that they will fix them.

The Group generated a profit of MRs269 million for the year, com-
pared to a loss of MRs845 million in the previous year, but the 
2019 figures were helped by a MRs440 million profit from sale 
of land, and a MRs226 million net fair value gain on investment 
properties. Long term, the key challenge is to generate enough 
cash from operations and sale of land to keep the balance sheet 
debt level in check. Currently, there is MRs2.1 billion of debt in 
Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs), which have sufficient cash flow 
to service their debts, and MRs4.5 billion of debt on the balance 
sheet. With all the projects on the pipeline, balance sheet debt, 
if not controlled, could reach MRs6 billion over the next 3 years.  

EUDCOS

A lot has happened to our 21 per cent associate company dur-
ing this financial year. As a sister company to Medine, connected 
only by way of mutual holding companies, Medine historically 
naturally assumed the role of manager. A recent review of this 
loose management structure resulted in a complete separa-
tion of EUDCOS from Medine, with Promotion and Development 
assuming the responsibility for the accounting and administra-
tion functions, against the payment of a modest fee.  All the 
listed shares held by the company, with the exception of Swan, 
were distributed by way of a dividend in specie – equivalent to 
MRs4.91 per share.  EUDCOS 50.2 per cent share in Concorde 
Tourist Guide Agency was sold to Medine, with the proceeds paid 
contributing to the high interim dividend of MRs1.20 per share. 
A final dividend of MRe0.25 was also paid, resulting in a total of 
MRs6.36 per share returned to shareholders. 

EUDCOS current, more streamlined, portfolio is made up of alco-
hol production and distribution (48 per cent), insurance – Swan 
(22 per cent), property (15 per cent), the Jacques Li Wan Po Group 
(12 per cent) and other investments (3 per cent). At the time of 
writing, the company’s 89.5 per cent share in Compagnie Mau-
ricienne de Commerce is in the process of being sold, and we 
expect half of EUDCOS 66.7 per cent share in Medine Distillery 
Company to be sold to New Goodwill Investments, once the regu-
latory hurdles have been cleared. 

MFD Group

MFD Group’s year end is December, so the figures are not 
aligned with ours. Figures for the 6 months ending 30th 
June, 2019 show an 8 per cent increase in turnover and a 33 
per cent increase in operation profit over the previous year.  
Some wind has been taken out of MFD’s cash flow sails, 
only because of some exceptional non-recurring capital 
expenditure on warehouse management software and water 
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proofing. The company has entered into a long term lease 
agreement with a major European Sports goods retailer, for 
the supply of the regional market. The first phase will be for 
a 24,000 square metre area, eventually going up to 40,000 
square metres. Construction, too, has started on the airport 
facilities, and progress in Africa is steady. There is much to 
like in MFD as an investment. The company’s cash genera-
tion will accelerate after this capex-rich 2 – 3 year period, 
which will result in more and more cash being returned to 
shareholders.

prospects

Port Louis is the theme of the Annual Report this year. It is the only 
city in Mauritius overlooking a beautiful working harbour, and it 
is a wonderful historical place through which all the Mauritian 
communities passed on arrival all these years ago. It is also the 
home to 25 per cent of your company’s assets, namely with, 
Caudan Development and MFD Group. Plans are afoot for the 
construction of more desirable, affordable residential property, 
which artists will undoubtedly occupy, attracted by the presence 
of the Caudan Arts Centre and all the other developments which 
are going on. As in other cities in the world, the arrival of artists 
will lead to the propagation of bars, restaurants and other places 
of entertainment. People will draw people, in a virtuous cycle of 
progress, and even if the parliament leaves, which would make 
no sense, the city will always be the capital of finance and law, 
with the added dimension of youth, art, culture and tourism.

Managing Director

October 03rd 2019, Port Louis, Mauritius
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The main objectives of the charter are to:

>  define the purpose, strategy and value and determine all mat-
ters relating to the directions, policies, practices, management 
and operations of the company and the group in accordance 
with the directions and delegations of the board; and

>  monitor the ethical conduct of the subsidiary companies, its 
executives and senior officials.

The charter defines inter alia the roles, functions and objectives 
of the board, various board committees, the Chairperson, the 
Managing Director and the Company Secretary. It also sets out 
how they interact in order to promote efficient, transparent and 
ethical functioning/decision making processes within the group.

The charter is available for consultation on the website of the The charter is available for consultation on the website of the 
company.company.

code of ethics
The Group is committed to conduct business in accordance with 
the highest ethical standards and in compliance with all appli-
cable laws, rules and regulations. The Code of Ethics which has 
been approved by the board has been designed to help officers 
and employees understand their ethical responsibilities as they 
conduct business on behalf of the Group.

It applies to all subsidiaries of the PaD Group, irrespective of the 
business segment. Moreover, the Code of Ethics must be read 
together with the other policies prevailing within the Group and 
any business specific policies in the applicable area.

The Code of Ethics will be reviewed and updated on a periodic 
basis in order to ensure it stays relevant to the Group.

This Code of Ethics is available for consultation on the website 
of the company.

profiles of key governance officers
The profiles of Mr René Leclézio and Mrs Jocelyne Martin appear 
in the directors’ profiles sections.

organisation chart and statement of accountabilities
The board is responsible to set general strategies and poli-
cies and ensure their implementation with the support of the 
key senior governance officers. These key governance offic-
ers have an experienced professional background. In addition, 
the board has set up three committees namely the Remunera-
tion, Corporate Governance and Ethics Committee, the Audit 
and Risk Monitoring Committee and the Strategy & Investment 
Committee.

governance structure

The company is a public interest entity as defined under the 
Financial Reporting Act 2004.

The board is responsible for leading and controlling the organ-
isation and meeting all legal and regulatory requirements. The 
board supports and is committed to attain and maintain the 
highest standards of corporate governance, including the princi-
ples of openness, integrity and accountability. 

The board strives to comply with all the eight principles set out 
in the National Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius 
(2016) (“NCCG”). The company recognises the need to improve 
the principles and practices in the light of the new code which 
has brought considerable changes from a corporate govern-
ance reporting perspective. We are pleased to report that we 
have implemented a number of changes and are in the process 
of completing the final necessary measures so as to be fully 
compliant. The promotion of good corporate governance values 
underlies the organisation’s decisions and actions.

The company’s compliance with the principles of the NCCG is set 
out in the report.

board and its committees

board charter (the “charter”)
The board has adopted a charter which sets out the objectives, 
roles and responsibilities and composition of the board. The 
charter should be read in conjunction with the company’s Con-
stitution and in case a dispute in content or meaning arises, the 
wording of the Constitution shall prevail.

Corporate 
Governance 
Report



17P R O M O T I O N  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T  L T D  &  I T S  S U B S I D I A R I E S  2 0 1 9

directors’ duties and performance
The main role of the board is to protect and enhance share-
holder value. It determines the Group’s direction, monitors its 
performance, oversees risks and is collectively responsible for 
the long-term success of the Group, its reputation and govern-
ance. The board is responsible to all its shareholders and to its 
other stakeholders for leading and controlling the organization 
and meeting all legal and regulatory requirements and is also 
accountable for determining that the company and its subsidiar-
ies are managed in such a way as to achieve its objectives.

The board has ultimate responsibility and is accountable for the 
performance and activities of the company. The role of the board 
is to set the overall strategy for the group and to supervise exec-
utive management and the proper functioning of the company, 
including inter alia:

>  ensuring that the long term interest of the shareholders are 
being served, and safeguarding the company’s assets;

>  assessing major risk factors relating to the Group and its per-
formance, and reviewing measures, including internal controls, 
to address and mitigate such risks;

>  reviewing and approving management’s strategic and business 
plans, including developing a depth of knowledge of the busi-
ness, understanding and questioning the assumptions upon 
which plans are based and reaching an independent judge-
ment as to the probability that the plans and/or the forecasts 
can be realized;

>  monitoring the performance of the management against budget 
and forecasts;

>  reviewing and approving the acquisition and divestment policy 
and significant corporate actions and major transactions;

>  approving the treasury policy and raising of finance;
>  assessing the effectiveness of the board;
>  ensuring that good corporate governance policies and prac-

tices are developed within the Group;
>  ensuring ethical behaviour and compliance with laws and regu-

lations, auditing and accounting principles and the company’s 
own governing documents;

>  considering sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and 
social factors, as part of its strategic formulation; and 

>  performing such other functions as are prescribed by law, or 
assigned to the board in the company’s governing documents.

The board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, and 
in the best interests of the company and its shareholders in 
the course of discharging its duties. It is committed to highest 
standards of business integrity, transparency and professional-
ism in all of its activities.

structure of the board and its committees

the board
The board is led by an effective and highly committed unitary 
board, whose responsibilities are, inter alia, the review and 
adoption of strategic plans, the overview of business perfor-
mance, the adoption of appropriate risk management systems 
and the establishment of proper internal control systems. It com-
prises of an appropriate balance of executive, non-independent 
non-executive and independent non-executive directors.

Board of Directors

Shareholders

Executive Directors

Remuneration,
Corporate

Governance and 
Ethics

Committee

Audit and risk 
Monitoring 
Committee

Internal AuditorExternal Auditor

Strategy & 
Investment
Committee



18

Conflicts of Interest & Related Party Transactions Policy
The board has adopted a Conflicts of Interest & Related Party 
Transactions Policy which is applicable to the company and to 
all its subsidiaries. The objective of this policy is to define the 
scope of conflicts of interest and related party transactions. 
This policy is available for consultation on the website of the 
company.

An interest register is maintained and updated on a quarterly 
basis and is available for consultation upon written request to 
the Company Secretary.

Information, Information Technology and Information 
Security Governance Policy
The board oversees information governance within the organisa-
tion. The Information, Information Technology and Information 
Security Governance Policy of the company applies to all the 
subsidiaries of the group. All policies relating to information 
security are made accessible to all employees. This policy is 
available for consultation on the website of the company. 

General Data Protection Privacy Policy
One of the most notable revisions brought to Mauritian law in 
the recent years concerns the Data Protection Act 2017 (DPA) 
effective since January 2018 and the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) enforced by the European Union as from May 
2018. The board is committed to compliance with all relevant 
laws in respect of personal data, including the GDPR and the 
DPA for the protection of the rights and freedoms of individuals 
whose information are collected and processed by the company 
in the course of its activities. The board has approved a General 
Data Protection Privacy Policy which is available for consulta-
tion on the website of the company and has delegated to the 
Audit & Risk Monitoring Committee the approval of all docu-
ments forming part of a compliance framework and assessment 
of its efficiency in the pursuance of the data protection strategy 
of the company. Furthermore, the board has appointed a Data 
Protection Officer whose responsibilities include inter alia to 
monitor the implementation of the aforesaid framework for pro-
tecting personal data.

Whistleblowing Policy
The board has approved a whistleblowing policy applicable to 
all its subsidiaries, its employees and directors, and which is 
available on the website of the company. This policy will aim 
at providing an avenue for issues to be raised in good faith, 
concerns of potential breaches of laws, rules, regulations or 
compliance. The whistleblowing mechanism intends to motivate 
responsible actions to uphold the group’s reputation.
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Bertrand de Chazal
Independent non-executive director
Fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Eng-
land and Wales and Commissaire aux Comptes. Worked during 
his career with Touche Ross, Paris and West Africa; retired as 
senior financial analyst of the World Bank. Director of Caudan 
Development, MCB Equity Fund and MCB Capital Markets. 

Catherine Fromet de Rosnay  
  Independent non-executive director
Director at LEGIS & Partners Ltd, a law firm registered under the 
Law Practitioners Act. Holds a ‘Magistère de Juriste d’Affaires’ 
and ‘Diplôme de Juriste et Conseil d’Entreprise (D.J.C.E)’ from 
the Université de Paris II, Panthéon Assas. Practised as an 
in-house lawyer for nearly 8 years at the legal department of 
Nexans in Paris, formerly known as Alcatel Cable France. Cur-
rently involved in the negotiation and drafting of commercial 
and joint-venture agreements, corporate due diligence exer-
cise, M&A operations, legal and tax advice. Director of Caudan 
Development and in various private companies controlled by 
French investors. Also board member of the Chambre de Com-
merce et d’Industrie France-Maurice.

Gilbert Gnany
  Non-independent non-executive director
‘Licence ès Sciences Economiques (Economie Mathématique)’, 
‘Maîtrise en Econométrie’ and ‘DESS en Méthodes Scienti-
fiques de Gestion et Calcul Economique Approfondi’ (France). 
Currently the Chief Strategy Officer of MCB Group. Previously 
worked as Senior Advisor on the World Bank Group’s Executive 
Board where he was responsible for issues relating mainly to 
the International Finance Corporation and to the private and fi-
nancial sectors. Prior to joining the World Bank, was the MCB 
Group Chief Economist and Group Head of Strategy, Research 
& Development after having been the Economic Advisor to the 
Minister of Finance in Mauritius. During his career, he has been 
involved in various high-profile boards/committees. Amongst 
others, he chaired the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, the 
Statistics Advisory Council and the Statistics Board as well as 
having been a member of the Board of Governors of the Mau-
ritius Offshore Business Activities Authority, a director of the 
Board of Investment and of the Mauritius Sugar Authority. He 
was also a member of the IMF Advisory Group for sub-Saharan 
Africa, a member of the Senate of the University of Mauritius 
and a director of the Financial Services Institute. Currently a 
Board member of several companies within the MCB Group. 
On the institutional side, he is an external IMF expert in statis-
tics, in particular on data dissemination standards and strategy 
and is also a member of the Financial Services Consultative 

directors’ profiles

Jean-Philippe Coulier
 appointed December 2018
  Chairperson and independent non-executive director
Holder of a Diplôme d’Études Supérieures en Droit’ and ‘Diplôme 
de l’Institut d’Études Politiques de Paris’ (France). During his 
career, Jean-Philippe has accumulated extensive experience 
in the banking sector, having worked for the Société Générale 
Group for some 40 years. Over this period, he has assumed a 
range of high-level responsibilities within the group, acting as 
Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Executive Officer in 
its various offices based worldwide. Before his retirement from 
Société Générale in early 2013, he was the Vice Chairman and 
Managing Director of the National Société Générale Bank in 
Cairo, Egypt. He was appointed Director of The Mauritius Com-
mercial Bank Limited in 2012 and held the chairmanship 
from 2014 to 2018.  In 2018, he was appointed director and 
Chairperson of Promotion and Development Ltd and Caudan 
Development Ltd. He is also a director of MCB Factors Ltd, MCB 
Microfinance Ltd and Fincorp Investment Ltd.

René Leclézio 
  Managing director
BSc (Hons) in Chemical Engineering, Imperial College and MBA, 
London Business School. Worked as a manager at Lloyds Mer-
chant Bank, London, before joining the company as its general 
manager in 1988. Director of several private and public com-
panies including Caudan Development, Medine, EUDCOS, 
Mauritius Freeport Development, Swan Life and Swan General.

Assad Abdullatiff
  Independent non-executive director
LLB (Hons) and LLM in Business Law, admitted to the Bar of Mau-
ritius. Founding partner and Managing Director of AXIS Fiduciary 
Ltd. Previously an Assistant Director at the Board of Investment 
of Mauritius, where he was the Head of the Financial Services 
Cluster, responsible for the promotion of Mauritius as an Interna-
tional Financial Centre. Member of the Society of Trusts & Estate 
Practitioners (STEP), past Chairman of the Mauritius branch and 
appointed as Council member of STEP worldwide in 2017 to 
represent the Africa/Arabia region. Director of Caudan Develop-
ment and a number of other companies in Mauritius operating in 
diverse economic sectors.

20



21P R O M O T I O N  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T  L T D  &  I T S  S U B S I D I A R I E S  2 0 1 9

key roles and responsibilities
To ensure a better balance of power and authority on the board, 
the functions and roles of the Chairperson and Managing Direc-
tor are separate. The Chairperson has overall responsibility 
for leading the board and ensuring its effectiveness whilst the 
managing director is responsible for managing and leading the 
business of the group.

The Chairperson provides overall leadership for decisions 
taken collectively by the board. He is responsible for ensuring 
the smooth functioning of the board and for promoting high 
standards of corporate governance. He is also responsible for 
ensuring that the directors receive accurate, timely and clear 
information and that adequate time is available for discussion 
of all agenda items at board meetings and in particular strategic 
issues. He encourages the active participation of all board mem-
bers in discussions and decisions, constructive relation between 
the board and management and effective communication with 
stakeholders.

The Managing Director, with the collaboration of the Finance 
Director, is responsible for the day to day running of the Group’s 
operations and for developing and recommending the long term 
strategy and vision of the company and the Group. He leads 
and directs senior management to implement the strategy and 
policies set out by the board. He also ensures effective commu-
nication with shareholders. 

The Company Secretary provides assistance and information on 
governance and corporate administration issues. The Company 
Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the board procedures 
are followed and that applicable laws and regulations are com-
plied with, for guiding the board with regard to their duties and 
responsibilities and for preparing agenda and minutes for board 
meetings and circulating same together with any supporting doc-
umentation. MCB Group Corporate Services Ltd was appointed 
Company Secretary in May 2019. Mrs Jocelyne Martin previously 
held this function.

The roles and responsibilities of the chairperson, the managing 
director and the company secretary are defined in the position 
statements which have been approved and are reviewed regu-
larly by the board. The position statements are available for 
consultation on the website of the company.

Council. Furthermore, he is the Chairperson of the Economic 
Commission of Business Mauritius which serves, inter alia, as 
a platform for public-private sector dialogue. Director in other 
listed companies/funds namely MCB Group, Caudan Develop-
ment, COVIFRA, Medine Ltd, MCB India Sovereign Bond ETF and 
African Domestic Bond Fund.

Stéphanie de la Hogue
   Independent non-executive director
Bachelor in marketing from the Institut de Management Interna-
tional de Paris. Managing Director of Poivre Corporate Services, 
a family group of companies’ corporate office. She is also direc-
tor of Caudan Development, Rey & Lenferna and Forges Tardieu.

Jocelyne Martin
  Executive director
BSc (Hons) in Statistics, London School of Economics. Member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. 
Trained with Deloitte Haskins + Sells (now part of PwC), London. 
After several years of experience in the UK, worked at De Chazal 
Du Mée before joining Promotion and Development in 1995 as 
Group Financial Controller. Was appointed director in 2004. 
Director of Caudan Development, Medine, EUDCOS and Mauri-
tius Freeport Development.

Jean-Pierre Montocchio
up to December 2018
 Chairperson and non-independent non-executive director
Notary public since 1990. Has participated in the National Com-
mittee on Corporate Governance as a member of the Board of 
Directors’ Sub-Committee. Director of various listed companies, 
namely Fincorp Investment Ltd, Rogers Co. Ltd, New Mauritius 
Hotels Ltd, Les Moulins de la Concorde Ltée and ENL Land Ltd.

Bernard Yen
  Independent    non-executive director
Fellow of the UK Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. Currently the 
Managing Director of AON Hewitt, providing actuarial, pensions 
and other services in Mauritius and the African region. Has more 
than 30 years’ international consulting experience including 15 
years with Mercer in Europe. Serves as the African representa-
tive on the Committee of Actuaries advising the UN staff pension 
fund since 2007. Also director of Caudan Development, MCB 
Capital Partners and Mauritian Eagle Leasing.
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All directors are expected to objectively discharge their duties 
and responsibilities in the interests of the company. All direc-
tors should make their best efforts to avoid conflicts of interests 
or situations where others might reasonably perceive such a 
conflict. The personal interest of a director, or persons closely 
associated with the director, must not take precedence over 
those of the company or its shareholders. Any director, who 
is directly or indirectly interested in a transaction or proposed 
transaction, is required to disclose the nature of his interest, at 
the meeting in which the transaction is discussed, and should 
not participate in the debate, vote or indicate how he would 
have voted on the matter.

balance

Independent non-executive directors  6

Executive directors   2

Non-independent 

  non-executive director   1

average age 

< 50   2

51 - 60   4

61 - 70   2

> 70   1

gender diversity 

Female   3

Male   6

board/director’s performance
The board acknowledges the need to regularly review the board’s 
performance and effectiveness, that of its committees, the 
Chairperson and individual members. An internal board evalu-
ation exercise was carried out for the financial year 2018/2019.  
The evaluation was carried out by means of a questionnaire that 
was filled in by each Director. The questionnaire covered the fol-
lowing areas:

>  The structure of the board
>  Board efficiency and effectiveness
>  Strategy and Performance
>  Risk Management and Governance
>  Board committees function
>  Board members self-evaluation
>  Chairperson’s evaluation by board members

balance and diversity
The company’s constitution provides that the board of the com-
pany shall consist of a minimum of 5 and a maximum of 10 
directors. As at June 30th 2019, the board was made up of nine 
directors as set out on page 4. 

The board includes an appropriate combination of executive 
directors, non-independent non-executive directors and inde-
pendent non-executive directors to prevent one individual or a 
small group of individuals from dominating the board’s decision 
taking. All the directors are residents of Mauritius. Taking into 
account the scope and nature of operations of the group, the 
board considers that the current board of 9 directors is commen-
surate with the sophistication and scale of the organization and 
is appropriate to facilitate the effective decision making. 

The directors come from diverse business backgrounds and 
possess the necessary knowledge, skills, objectivity, integrity, 
experience and commitment to make sound judgements on vari-
ous key issues relevant to the business of the company. 

The executive directors are: René Leclézio, the managing direc-
tor and Jocelyne Martin, the finance director.

There are 6 independent non-executive directors: Jean-Philippe 
Coulier, Catherine Fromet de Rosnay, Stéphanie de La Hogue, 
Assad Abdullatiff, Bertrand de Chazal and Bernard Yen. 

For the period up to June 30th 2019, both Bertrand de Chazal 
and Bernard Yen have been considered independent even 
though they have served on the board for more than nine con-
secutive years from the date of their first election. The board is of 
the opinion that these directors, have been able to develop over 
time, increasing insights into the group’s business and opera-
tions and are therefore able to provide a significant and valuable 
contribution to the board as a whole. The board, which can have, 
according to the NCCG, “its own definition of independence”, 
considered and noted that notwithstanding the fact that Messrs 
Bertrand de Chazal and Bernard Yen have served on the board 
for more than nine years, their independence as directors is not 
affected, as they continue to exercise independent judgement 
and demonstrate objectivity in their conduct and deliberations 
at board and Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee meetings.

With three female directors as board members, the board is also 
in line with the recommendation of the NCCG regarding the gen-
der diversity.
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However, on occasion, in addition to the regular scheduled meet-
ings, it may be necessary to convene ad-hoc meetings at short 
notice as and when circumstances warrant, which may preclude 
directors from attending. Besides physical meetings, the board 
and the board committees may also make decisions by way of 
written resolutions. Board meetings are chaired in Mauritius and 
participation by board members by means of teleconference or 
similar communication equipment is permitted. 

Matters considered by the board in 2018-2019:
>  The audited annual report for the year ended June 30th 2018;
>  The abridged unaudited financial statements for the first, sec-

ond and third quarters;
>  Declaration of interim dividends;
>  The company’s and Group’s budgets;
>  Investments of the company;
>  Adoption of new policies;
>  Review of the strategic orientations; and
>  Assessed the need to carry out a board evaluation exercise.

The board met six times during the year to consider all aspects 
of the company’s affairs and any further information which 
it requested from management. Directors are kept regularly 
informed of the up to date business position of the group.

The agenda of the board is prepared by the Company Secretary 
in consultation with the Chairperson and the Managing Director 
and circulated together with accompanying board papers in a 
timely manner.

attendance at board meetings

2 0 1 9   board of directors

 

Jean-Philippe Coulier (appointed in December 2018)  4/4

René Leclézio   6/6

Assad Abdullatiff    4/6

Bertrand de Chazal   3/6

Catherine Fromet de Rosnay   6/6

Gilbert Gnany    4/6

Stéphanie de la Hogue   5/6

Jocelyne Martin   6/6

Jean-Pierre Montocchio (resigned in December 2018)  1/2

Bernard Yen   5/6

number of meetings held   6

The results were analysed and the review established that the 
directors consider the board to be operating effectively. The 
board was comfortable with the overall results of the assess-
ment and the few areas requiring improvement have been 
considered and an action plan implemented.

The board also encourages its members to keep on enhancing 
their knowledge and competencies through personal develop-
ment programmes.

director appointment procedures
In accordance with the constitution of the company, one-third of 
the directors or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest to, but not exceeding one-third, shall retire from 
office and shall be eligible for re-election. 

The board of directors may at any time appoint any person to 
be a director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to 
the existing directors up to a maximum number permitted by 
the Constitution until the next Annual Meeting of Sharehold-
ers where the director shall then retire and shall be eligible for 
appointment at that meeting.

Newly appointed directors are briefed on key information relat-
ing to the group and the sector in which it operates. They are 
given the relevant governing documents of the company and 
meet executive management to familiarize with each of the 
group’s business and operation, its strength and weaknesses. 
This process contributes to ensuring a well-informed and com-
petent board.

The procedures and accountability for certain of the board mat-
ters are delegated under clearly defined conditions to board 
committees and executive management and information is sup-
plied to the board in a manner that enables the board to act 
diligently and fulfil its responsibilities. The board monitors reg-
ularly the effectiveness of the policies and decisions, including 
the implementation and execution of its strategies.

board meetings
All directors are expected to attend all meetings of the board, 
and of those committees on which they serve, and to devote 
sufficient time to the group’s affairs to enable them to properly 
fulfil their duties as directors. The dates of the meetings together 
with agenda items are scheduled up to one year in advance, with 
board meetings at least each quarter. 
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attendance of the Remuneration, Corporate governance and 
Ethics Committee

2 0 1 9  

Jean-Philippe Coulier (appointed in December 2018) 1/1

René Leclézio   2/2

Bertrand de Chazal   2/2

Catherine Fromet de Rosnay   2/2

Stéphanie de la Hogue    2/2

Jean-Pierre Montocchio (up to December 2018)  n/a

number of meetings held   2

The Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee
The committee is appointed by the board to assist in the dis-
charge of duties relating to the overall control aspects of the 
company and its subsidiaries, including the safeguarding of 
assets, the monitoring of internal control processes, and the 
preparation of accurate financial reporting and statements in 
compliance with all applicable legal requirements and account-
ing standards. It also assists in setting up risk mitigation 
strategies and to assess and monitor the risk management pro-
cess of the Group and to advise the board on risk issues.

It comprises Mr Assad Abdullatiff, who chairs this commit-
tee since December 2018 and Messrs Bertrand de Chazal 
(previously Chairperson of the committee)  and Bernard Yen. 
Mr Gilbert Gnany resigned from the committee in May 2019.  
All three members of the committee have the relevant financial 
experience. None of the members of the Audit and Risk Moni-
toring Committee were previous partners of or directors of the 
external auditors, namely BDO nor do they hold any financial 
interest therein. 

In addition to its statutory functions, the Audit and Risk Monitor-
ing Committee considers and reviews any other matters as may 
be agreed to by the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee and 
the board. In particular, the committee assists the board in fulfill-
ing its financial reporting responsibilities. It reviews the financial 
reporting process, and monitors compliance with laws and regu-
lations. It monitors the quality, accuracy, reliability and integrity 
of the financial statements, and reviews interim financial reports 
and the annual financial statements prior to their submission to 
the board, and the application of the company’s accounting poli-
cies. It reviews the audit process and assesses and recommends 
the appointment of internal and external auditors.

board committees 
To assist the board in the discharge of its responsibilities, the 
board has delegated certain functions to the following commit-
tees, each of which has its own written terms of reference which 
deal clearly with their authorities and duties. Details of the most 
important committees are set out below: 

The Remuneration, Corporate Governance and Ethics Commit-
tee (“RCGEC”)
The main role of the RCGEC is to advise and make recommen-
dations to the board in the discharge of its duties relating to 
corporate governance matters and nomination of directors 
and senior executives of the company and to all remuneration 
aspects. 

The committee is appointed by the board and makes rec-
ommendations to the board, in respect of issues relating to 
appointments of directors and the composition, size and struc-
ture of the board and generally on all corporate governance 
provisions to be adopted by the company and oversees their 
implementation. It also has responsibility for the compensation 
strategies, plans, policies and programs of the company and its 
subsidiaries and evaluating and approving the remuneration 
package and other terms and conditions of service applying to 
directors and senior executives.
 
The Committee is also responsible for updating from time to 
time, and as necessary, the company’s Code of Ethics. It is also 
responsible for driving the process for the implementation of the 
NCCG throughout the group. As such, it oversees that compli-
ance to the NCCG is being monitored, with a view to ensuring 
that the importance of this document is continuously stressed 
within the Group, and that its core principles are embedded in 
the Group Corporate Culture.

Matters considered by the RCGEC in 2018-2019:
>  Recommendations on the appointment of new directors; 
>  Review of key governance documents; 
>  Approval of directors’ remuneration; and
>  Approval of salary increases.
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>  Reviewing the performance of the various investments once 
approved.

The Strategy & Investment Committee comprises Mr. Jean-
Philippe Coulier acting as Chairperson, Messrs Bertrand de 
Chazal, Gilbert Gnany, René Leclézio, Bernard Yen and Mrs Joce-
lyne Martin. The committee has identified four categories of 
investments, namely: “core”, “non-core special relationship”, 
“non-core listed” and “foreign listed” investments. Core invest-
ments are those made in companies in which PaD has a long 
term interest; non-core special relationship investments are 
those investments in which the company has a special inter-
est other than “core”; non-core listed investments are shares 
quoted on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (both the Official 
Market and DEM); foreign listed investments are shares quoted 
on a reputable stock exchange overseas.

The committee has an independent role, reviewing the strategy 
of the company, operating as an overseer, supervising invest-
ment activity and making recommendations to the board for 
its consideration and final approval. A meeting of the commit-
tee may be called by any member of the committee or by the 
secretary, but in any event the committee shall meet at least 
three times annually. The investment portfolio is circulated and 
reviewed by the members at each meeting. The Strategy & Invest-
ment Committee Charter which has been approved by the board 
is available for consultation on the website of the company.

attendance of the Strategy & Investment Committee

2 0 1 9  

Jean-Philippe Coulier (appointed in December 2018) 2/2

René Leclézio   2/2

Bertrand de Chazal   1/2

Gilbert Gnany (as from December 2018)  2/2

Jocelyne Martin    2/2

Bernard Yen (as from December 2018)  2/2

number of meetings held   2

The committee reviews matters affecting the company’s finan-
cial and internal controls, their adequacy and effectiveness and 
the management of financial risk. The committee also monitors 
risks identified and considered critical by management, includ-
ing capital, market, reputational, strategic and operational risks; 
it reviews and monitors the development and implementation 
of the company’s risk management programme. The Audit and 
Risk Monitoring Committee provides a forum through which the 
external auditors can report to the board and monitors their 
performance and independence. The board is satisfied that the 
Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee has adequately discharged 
its responsibilities in compliance with its terms of reference.

attendance of the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee

2 0 1 9   

 

Assad Abdullatiff    3/5

Bertrand de Chazal   3/5

Gilbert Gnany (up to May 2019)   3/4

Bernard Yen   4/5

number of meetings held   5

Matters considered by the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee 
in 2018-2019:
>  Review the abridged quarterly financial statements for the first, 

second and third quarters;
>  Review and recommend for approval to the board the abridged 

and annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2018;

>  Review and recommend for approval to the board the budgets 
for the forthcoming years;

>  Various audit reports submitted by the internal auditor; and
>  Audit reports and findings of the external auditor.

The Strategy & Investment Committee
The board has established an investment committee which was 
renamed “Strategy & Investment Committee” to assist the board 
in:

>  Reviewing periodically the strategy of the company and propos-
ing to update it, if and when necessary,

>  Considering dis/investment opportunities and evaluating 
investment-related projects in respect of properties, listed and 
unquoted securities and other corporate action,

>  Recommending to the board, acquisitions, disposals and 
investments generally in line with the limits of authority del-
egated to it and in line with the strategy determined by the 
board,
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employee share option scheme (ESOS)
In December 2010, the company introduced an Employee Share 
Option Scheme (ESOS) with a view to provide targeted incentives 
to all staff, to attract and retain highly qualified staff in competi-
tive markets, to foster a culture of team work and commitment, 
and to achieve improved individual performance through share 
ownership. All employees of the company eligible to receive a 
performance bonus are granted options, exercisable through 
four specific time windows over a one-year period, to assign up 
to 25 per cent of their performance bonus towards the purchase 
of PaD shares with a retention period of three years. The option 
price is based on the average of the company’s share price of 
the last three months less a discount of 10 per cent. However, 
such discount is not granted to employees forming part of the 
management of the company. These shares are held as treasury 
shares until such time that the options granted are exercised 
by the employees. The outstanding options totalling 20,885 as 
at June 30th 2018 which were not exercised during the year, 
lapsed and the treasury shares issued in that respect were car-
ried forward. In December 2018, 24,740 options were offered to 
employees in respect of the financial year ended June 30th 2018. 
The company has not issued new treasury shares as a result of 
the PaD shares received from EUDCOS following the distribution 
of some of its investments. No options were exercised during the 
year and as at June 30th 2019, there were 24,740 outstanding 
options which if not exercised, will lapse in October 2019.

statement of remuneration philosophy  
The company’s remuneration philosophy concerning directors 
provides that: 

>  there should be a retainer fee for each director reflecting the 
workload, size and complexity of the business as well as the 
responsibility involved. It should be the same for all directors 
whether executive or non-executive directors; 

>  the Chairperson having wider responsibilities should have 
higher remunerations; 

>  there should be committee fees for directors. The Chairperson 
should have higher remuneration than members;

>  board and committee members also receive an attendance fee 
per sitting of their respective boards and committees;

>  an attendance fee is also paid for attending the Annual Meet-
ing of shareholders; and

>  no share option or bonus should be granted to non-executive 
or independent directors. 

Executive director’s remuneration package consists of basic sal-
ary, annual performance bonus, pension provision and other 
benefits. The structure of the package is reviewed annually and 
benchmarked to market norms and practices. The company’s 
objective is to attract, motivate and retain executive directors of 
the highest calibre. 

The remuneration philosophy for management and staff is based 
on meritocracy and ensures that: 

>  fairness is promoted throughout the organisation and;
>  opportunity is given to staff members to benefit from the finan-

cial result and development of the company. 

Eligible staff members are entitled to receive a bonus based 
on the performance of the company and their own rated perfor-
mance appraisal during the year. 

Generally, the finalisation of remuneration packages is based on 
a number of factors including qualifications, skills and experi-
ence, past performance, personal potential, market norms and 
practices, and levels of responsibilities.
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The property segment is influenced mainly by economic growth 
in the country. The ability of commercial local businesses to 
rent properties depends on the former’s financial performance, 
but with the increased competition due to new shopping 
malls across the country and a low economic growth, these 
businesses may struggle to stay operational. In addition, over-
supply of rental property puts downward pressure on rentals.

The PaD group is also exposed over the allocation of permits 
from the authorities for development projects. Delays in 
granting permits may be encountered.

To mitigate the above risks, the company has developed vari-
ous policies, processes, systems and methods which are 
reviewed regularly to ensure that they are managed on a timely 
basis and in an effective manner. In June 2017, a Business Risk 
Identification and assessment exercise was carried across the 
group by MCB Consulting. Under their guidance, the group has 
put in place a risk management framework and implemented 
the action plan to mitigate the business risks and/or to trans-
form them into business opportunities. 

The group is also exposed to financial risks such as market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The management of these risks is 
further discussed in note 1 of the financial statements. 

The board is also responsible for information governance 
within the company and its subsidiaries. The management of 
information technology and information security governance 
are delegated to the Chief Technology Officer (CTO). The newly 
recruited CTO, on secondment from the IT department of the 
MCB Ltd, is positioned to mitigate all risks emerging with the 
spread of new technologies and digitalisation practices in our 
economy and ensure that internal control procedures are imple-
mented internally to avoid inter alia, malfunction or disruption 
in the operation of the systems and/or cyber-security breaches.

The existing policies are being reviewed and an IT governance 
model for the company is currently being developed. A list of 
the existing policies is detailed below:

>  Email, internet and other acceptable use policy: outline appro-
priate and inappropriate use of email systems and services 
and internet resources.

>  System administrator policy: establish administrative and 
privileged access rights to the company’s IT systems and con-
fidential information.

>  Logical access policy: limit access to information processing 
facilities and business processes of the group.

directors’ remuneration

Remuneration and benefits received and receivable from the com-

pany and its subsidiaries

 the company subsidiaries

MRs000 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8

Full time 

executive directors 25,316 26,022 30 60

Non-executive directors 1,030 650 650 425

Total 26,346 26,672 680 485

The directors’ fees and remuneration are in accordance with 
market rates. They have not been disclosed on an individual 
basis due to the sensitive nature of the information.

risk governance and internal control

The group’s activities are exposed to a wide range of risks 
that could impact on its operational and financial perfor-
mance. The directors are responsible for maintaining an 
effective system of internal control and risk management. 
Whilst these two functions are delegated to the Audit and 
Risk Monitoring Committee, the nature and governance 
of risk remain the ultimate responsibility of the board.

The responsibility of the board also includes:

>  Ensuring that structures and processes are in place for risks 
management;

>  Identifying the principal risks;
>  Ensuring that management has developed and implemented 

the relevant framework;
>  Ensuring that systems are in place for implementing, maintain-

ing and monitoring internal controls.

All risks have been documented in a risk register and this will 
be reviewed at least yearly to identify new and emerging risks.

Some of the operational risks to which the group is exposed 
are:

>  physical: losses due to fire, cyclone, explosion etc.
>  human resources: losses arising from acts inconsistent with 

employment, health and safety laws.
>  business continuity: losses resulting from breakdown in sys-

tems, failure of internal processes, inadequate back-ups and 
loss of data.

>  compliance: failure to comply with laws, regulations, codes of 
conduct and standard of good practice relevant to the group’s 
business environment.
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carbon reduction commitment
Environment consciousness is among one of the most impor-
tant business practices of the company and the group. The 
group wishes to go further in the strengthening and affirmation 
of the group’s identity as an eco-friendly destination by build-
ing on several ad-hoc green initiatives that have been taken over 
a certain period of time, like the use of eco-friendly biodegrad-
able detergents when it comes to the cleaning of the premises 
and recycling of used oils among others. The group has reduced 
paper consumption through the elimination of paper invoices 
by sending them electronically. Furthermore, the group has 
installed water dispensers at its premises in order to shifting off 
plastic bottles. 

The most visible and ambitious action taken at this level is the 
inculcation of environmental awareness to all staff, visitors and 
tenants via the implementation of selective separation and sort-
ing of waste with the provision of adapted bins. 

In the coming year, the group will continue to work towards bring-
ing consistency to its environment friendly policy and actions in 
view of putting up a structured and full-fledged project that will 
strengthen the group’s commitment towards sustainable devel-
opment, thus enabling us to meet international standards with 
regard to environmental consciousness.

audit

Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee
The mission of the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee is to 
establish formal and transparent arrangements regarding how 
to apply financial reporting and internal control principles and 
to maintain an appropriate relationship with the company’s 
auditors. 

The Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee confirms that, for the 
year under review, it has met its key objectives and carried out 
its responsibilities effectively in accordance with its Charter. 

During the year under review, the Audit and Risk Monitoring 
Committee has continued to focus on its key objectives namely: 
overseeing financial reporting, internal controls, internal and 
external audit.

>  Mobile code policy: protect integrity of software and informa-
tion, provide instructions on measures to be taken to achieve 
effective malware detection and prevention.

>  Information security & incident management policy: protect 
information assets, prevent security incidents and reduce 
their potential impact. Identify information security events 
and weaknesses and take timely corrective action.

>  Back up policy: regular backup copies of information and 
software to protect against loss of data, maintain the integ-
rity and availability of information and information processing 
facilities.

>  Network security policy: protection of information in networks 
and of supporting infrastructure.

>  Password policy: creating, protecting and changing 
passwords.

>  Laptop policy: minimise information security risks that may 
affect laptops.

reporting with integrity

The directors are responsible for preparing the financial state-
ments in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 
Company law requires the directors to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate account-
ing records and for the preparation of accounts that fairly 
present the state of affairs of the company. The annual report 
and accounts are fair, balanced and understandable and pro-
vide the information necessary for shareholders and other key 
stakeholders to assess the company’s position, performance 
and outlook. The directors have also the duty to safeguard the 
assets of the company and the group and for taking reason-
able steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

sustainability reporting
The company is committed to the development and implemen-
tation of social health and safety and environmental policies 
and practices in line with existing legislatives and regulatory 
framework.



29P R O M O T I O N  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T  L T D  &  I T S  S U B S I D I A R I E S  2 0 1 9

Upon approval from the Audit Committee, the board of the 
company thereafter recommends the appointment of external 
auditors to the shareholder in the Annual Meeting of sharehold-
ers for approval by way of an ordinary resolution. 

Although the external auditor may provide non-audit services to 
the company, the objectivity and independence of the external 
auditor is safeguarded through restrictions on the provisions of 
these services such as

>  Where the external auditor may be required to audit its own 
work, or

>  Where the external auditor participates in activities that 
should normally be undertaken by the Company.

Following the enactment of the Finance Act 2016 and a sub-
sequent regulation Government Notice No 64 of 2017, listed 
companies are required to rotate their auditors every seven 
years. The current auditors have performed more than seven 
consecutive years as auditors and by virtue of the Regulation 
aforementioned were allowed to continue in office for the finan-
cial year ending June 30th 2019. A new tender exercise has been 
undertaken by the company to appoint new auditors for the year 
ending June 30th 2020. A resolution for the appointment of new 
auditors will be proposed at the forthcoming annual meeting of 
the shareholders.

relations with shareholders and other key stakeholders
At June 30th 2019, the capital structure of the company was 
MRs194,853,225, represented by 38,970,645 ordinary shares of 
MRs5 each, out of which, 74,378 were held as treasury shares. 
There were 3,459 shareholders on the registry at year end. 

There is no ultimate holding company in the capital structure.

internal audit
The company has established an in-house internal audit func-
tion. The group internal auditor evaluates all aspects of internal 
control of the company and its subsidiaries and assists the 
Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee to ensure that the com-
pany maintains a sound system of internal controls. The internal 
auditor reports to the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee 
Chairperson, and to the executive management on administra-
tive matters. The Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee approves 
the hiring and the removal of the internal auditor and also 
ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit 
function. The internal audit plan is established in consultation 
with, but independent of, Management, and is reviewed and 
approved by the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee. The Audit 
and Risk Monitoring Committee and management review and 
discuss internal audit findings, recommendations and status 
of remediation at Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee meet-
ings. The management also submitted an action plan for the 
various findings. The internal auditor has unfettered access to 
the group’s documents, records, properties and personnel, 
including access to the Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee. 
During the year under review, the internal auditor reported to the 
Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee on factual findings with 
respect to human resources, payroll and accounts receivable 
management.

external audit
Annual audit plans are presented in advance by the exter-
nal auditors and reviewed by the Audit and Risk Monitoring 
Committee.

The Audit and Risk Monitoring Committee also reviews the exter-
nal auditors’ report and any recommendations for improvements 
in controls and procedures identified in the course of their work 
and ensures the proper follow up of previous recommendations.

The Audit Committee also evaluates the performance of the 
external auditor and reviews the integrity, independence and 
objectivity of the external auditor by:

>  Confirming that the external auditor is independent from the 
company

>  Considering whether the relationships that may exist between 
the Company and the external auditor impair the External 
Auditor’s judgement
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shareholders through its Annual Report, publication of unau-
dited quarterly and audited abridged financial statements of 
the group, dividend declaration, press announcements and the 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to which all shareholders are 
encouraged to attend. All shareholders of the company are enti-
tled to attend and vote at shareholders’ meetings in person or 
by proxy. The company is required to comply with the provisions 
of the Listing Rules on the continuous disclosure obligations. 
Results and annual reports are announced and issued within 
the specified period. All announcements are posted on the 
company’s website. 

The company’s website is also an important means of effec-
tively communicating with all stakeholders, keeping them 
abreast of developments within the group.

The Shareholders are entitled to receive the Annual Report 
of the company and the notice of Annual Meeting within six 
months of the end of the financial year and at least 21 days 
before the Annual Meeting in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2001.

shareholders’ calendar 

The company has planned the following forthcoming events:

Mid-November 2019
 release of first quarter results to 

September 30th 2019

December 2019 annual meeting of shareholders

Mid-February 2020
 release of half-year results to  

December 31st 2019

Mid-May 2020
 release of results for the nine 

month period to March 31st 2020

June 2020 declaration of interim dividend

End-September 2020
 release of full year results to June 30th 2020 

and declaration of final dividend

Mid-November 2020
 release of first quarter results to 

September 30th 2020

December 2020 annual meeting of shareholders

Shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the 

company

shareholder  number of shares  % held

Fincorp Investment Limited 18,044,307 46.39

Pershing llc 5,142,036 13.22

size of number number of %

shareholding of shares holding

 shareholders held 

1-500 shares 2,206 185,661 0.48

501-1,000 shares 265 201,475 0.52

1,001-5,000 shares 531 1,232,101 3.17

5,001-10,000 shares 169 1,224,109 3.15

10,001-50,000 shares 197 4,321,352 11.11

50,001-100,000 shares 27 1,801,947 4.63

100,001-250,000 shares 14 1,866,847 4.80

250,001-500,000 shares 10 4,213,480 10.83

Above 500,001 shares 3 23,849,295 61.31

Total 3,422 38,896,267 100.00

category number number of %

 of shares holding 

 shareholders owned  

Individuals 3,036 8,983,455 23.10

Insurance and

  Assurance Companies 8 552,786 1.42

Pensions and

  Provident Funds 33 1,199,921 3.08

Investment and

  Trust Companies 38 19,048,010 48.97

Other Corporate Bodies 307 9,112,095 23.43

Total 3,422 38,896,267 100.00

The number of shareholders given above is indicative, having been obtained 

by consolidation of multiple portfolios for reporting purposes

The board places great importance on an open and transpar-
ent communication with all shareholders; and it endeavours to 
deliver to the shareholders and to the global investing commu-
nity thorough and up to date information to support informed 
investment decisions and keep them informed on matters 
affecting the company, which could have a material impact on 
the company’s share price. The company communicates to its 
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share price information

Evolution of the company’s share price compared to the  

Semdex over the past five years

common directors

Common directors within the holding structure of the company as 

at June 30th 2019

 MCB Group   Fincorp

   Investment

Jean-Philippe Coulier  *
Gilbert Gnany * 

the constitution 

A copy of the constitution is available at the registered office of 
the company and on its website. There are no clauses of the con-
stitution deemed material to be disclosed.

shareholders agreement 

There is currently no shareholders’ agreement affecting the 
governance of the company by the board.

third party management agreement

There were no such agreements during the year under review. 

dividend policy

The company’s objective is to provide value to its shareholders 
through optimum return on equity. A new dividend policy was 
approved by the board in June 2019. Its objective is to reaffirm 
the company’s commitment to providing additional value to its 
shareholders through optimum return on equity and aims for a 
pay out of approximately 3% of the weighted net assets value 
of the company over its financial year. Distribution of dividends 
under this new dividend policy is however, in addition to satis-
fying the solvency test, subject to the company’s accumulated 
and future earnings, cash availability and future commitments. 

The company’s annual dividend will henceforth be paid in two 
tranches; an interim dividend being declared prior to the com-
pany’s year end and the final dividend, which will be based 
on full year audited and approved financial statements, being 
declared in September and paid in December each year. The 
new dividend policy took effect with respect to the financial 
year 2019, with a final dividend to be declared by the board in 
September 2019.

The board will continue to review from time to time the Dividend 
Policy as part of its commitment to maximizing shareholder 
value, taking into consideration PaD’s financial performance 
and market conditions.

The board declared two interim dividends of MRs1.15 per share 
and MRs2.65 per share respectively and a final dividend of 
MRs1.30 per share in respect of the year ended June 30th 2019, 
making a total of MRs5.10 per share (2018: MRs3.60 per share).
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Trend over the past five years

 

year dividend per share

   

 MRs

2019 5.10

2018 3.60 

2017 3.25

2016 3.00

2015 2.50

statement of directors’ responsibilities

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which present fairly the 
financial position, financial performance and cash flow of 
the company and of the group. In preparing those financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

>  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

>  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent;

>  state whether International Financial Reporting Standards 
have been followed and complied with, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial state-
ments; and

>  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2001. The directors are also responsible to ensure that:

>  an effective system of internal control and risk management 
has been maintained and

>  the code of corporate governance has been adhered to. 

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether 
the financial statements are fairly presented. 

Approved by the board of directors on  
September 27th 2019 and signed on its behalf by

Jean-Philippe Coulier
 Chairperson

René Leclézio
 Managing Director
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name of public interest entity (‘P.I.E’)

Promotion and Development Ltd

reporting period

Year ended June 30th 2019

We, the directors of Promotion and Development Ltd, confirm that to the best of our knowledge the P.I.E has not fully complied with 
the principles of the National Code of Corporate Governance (2016), for the reasons stated below:

Approved by the board of directors on September 27th 2019 and signed on its behalf by

Jean-Philippe Coulier  René Leclézio
 Chairperson   Managing Director

Statement of 
Compliance
(SECTION 75 (3) OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT)

areas of non-application of the Code explanation of non-application

>  Principle 3 >  The Succession Plan has not been disclosed in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

>  The Succession Plan of the company is in the pro-
cess of being formalised.

>  Principle 4 >  Total remuneration on an individual basis not dis-
closed.

>  They have not been disclosed on an individual 
basis due to the sensitive nature of the information.
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In our capacity as Company Secretary, we hereby certify that, to 
the best of our knowledge and belief the company has filed with 
the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required under 
the Companies Act 2001.

MCB Group Corporate Services Ltd 
Company Secretary
September 27th 2019

Company 
Secretary’s Certificate
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 Promotion and Caudan

 Development Development

purchases/ direct indirect direct indirect

other movements

(number of shares)

René Leclézio 19,166 3,554 - -

Bertrand de Chazal - 4 - -

Stéphanie de la Hogue 3 - - -

Jocelyne Martin 10 - - -

directors of subsidiaries

For directors of subsidiaries, please refer to page 108 of the 
financial statements.

directors’ service contracts

Except for Mr René Leclézio and Mrs Jocelyne Martin, who have a 
service contract with no expiry terms with the company, none of 
the other directors had any service contract with the company or 
its subsidiaries.

directors’ indemnity insurance

The company has contracted an indemnity insurance cover for 
the directors’ liability.

directors’ remuneration

Remuneration and benefits received and receivable from the com-

pany and its subsidiaries

 the company subsidiaries

MRs000 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8

Full time 

  executive directors 25,316 26,022 30 60

Non-executive directors 1,030 650 650 425

Total 26,346 26,672 680 485

The directors’ fees and remuneration are in accordance with 
market rates. They have not been disclosed on an individual 
basis due to the sensitive nature of the information.

principal activities

The principal activities of the group are unchanged from last 
year and continued throughout 2019 to consist principally of 
investment in shares, property development and the supply 
and provision of services associated with such activities.

directors’ interests in shares

The directors are aware of the contents of the Model Code on 
Securities Transactions by Directors (Appendix 6 of the Mauritius 
Stock Exchange Listing Rules 2000) and ensure that all dealings 
in which they are or are deemed to be interested are conducted 
in accordance therewith.

Interests in the share capital of the company and its subsidiaries 

at June 30th 2019

 Promotion and Caudan

 Development Development

number of shares direct indirect direct indirect

Jean-Philippe Coulier - - - -

René Leclézio 284,100 959,699 - 1,281,237

Assad Abdullatiff - - - -

Bertrand de Chazal - 4 - -

Catherine 

   Fromet de Rosnay - - - -

Gilbert Gnany - - - -

Stéphanie de la Hogue 3 - - -

Jocelyne Martin 15,784 - 158,628 -

Bernard Yen 3,000 - 146,426 -

Statutory 
Disclosures
SECTION 221 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2001
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contract of significance

During the year under review, there was no contract of signifi-
cance to which PaD was a party and in which a director of PaD 
was materially interested either directly or indirectly.

auditors

Fees payable to the auditors for audit and other  
services

 the group the company

MRs000 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8

bdo & Co

Audit services 962 880 261 255

Other services - - - -

Total 962 880 261 255

 

donations

 the group the company

MRs000 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9   2 0 1 8

Arts and Culture Fund (ArtIs) 3,415 3,227 3,415  3,227

Additional funding for special 

 projects (ArtIs) - 1,583 - 1,583

Educational sponsorship 739 572 739 572

Charitable 113 187 113 187

Total 4,267 5,569 4,267 5,569

No political donations were made during the year (2018: nil).
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CSR fund

Ever since inception, the company has always been committed 
in providing voluntary support to non-governmental organisa-
tions (NGOs) and sponsorship to individuals and associations 
for the promotion of education, arts and culture and sports activ-
ities. Other companies within the group have also individually 
contributed to fulfil their social responsibility. Our subsidiary, 
Caudan Development has provided free spaces in the mall for 
local crafts, exhibitions and cultural and sports events with a 
view to promote empowerment.

The commitment of the group towards corporate social responsi-
bility was further strengthened with the incorporation of Caudan 
Communauté, a special purpose vehicle (SPV) which was incor-
porated in 2010 to implement the specific CSR programme of the 
group. Its main responsibilities consist of financing and working 
closely in partnership with all stakeholders of the community: 
the public through NGOs engaged in social work, other founda-
tions which have similar objectives and the authorities, namely 
the National Social Inclusion Foundation (formerly known as 
National Corporate Social Responsibility Foundation (NCSRF)).

The management of Caudan Communauté has been entrusted to 
a committee composed of representatives of the group to trans-
late the philosophy and vision of the group in all CSR activities.

The field of intervention of Caudan Communauté is as follows:

>  promotion of socio-economic development, including poverty 
alleviation and the improvement of gender and human rights;

>  promotion of development in the fields of health, education 
and training, leisure and environment;

>  intervention and support during and following catastrophic 
events; and

Corporate Social 
Responsibility 

>  undertaking or participation in programmes approved by the 
NCSRF.

Since its operation, Caudan Communauté has contributed in the 
following areas namely: 

>  support to vulnerable groups: children, women in distress and 
handicapped;

> education: literacy programmes and training;
>  health: support to the rehabilitation of patients suffering from 

mental disorder, inadapted children and fight against AIDS;
>  human values: fight against corruption;
>  arts and culture: opportunities for development of talented 

musicians;
>  sports: promotion of sports events; 
>  environment: creation of green spaces outside the work place; 

and
>  empowerment of women and children.

As part of the requirements of the authorities to set up an annual 
CSR fund representing 2% of their chargeable income derived 
during the preceding year, an aggregate amount of MRs718,750 
was entrusted by the Group to Caudan Communauté, after remit-
tance of 50 per cent to the Mauritius Revenue Authorities (MRA). 
For the next financial year, that is, for CSR fund set up on or after   
January 2019, the share of CSR contributions to be made to the 
MRA has been set to 75 per cent, thus reducing further the flex-
ibility for engaging directly with NGOs and social partners.

Main highlights of the CSR programme during the year under 
review:

>  child care centres’ monthly costs for children of eligible 
employees;

>  Study texts to students through ‘Association Oasis de Paix’;
>  Action for Integral Human Development - project of ‘Centre 

D’écoute’ in colleges;
>  Contribution to ZEP primary schools through ‘Terrain for Inter-

active Pedagogy through Arts’;
>  Educational project for students of ‘La Valette - Bambous’ 

through ‘Quartier de Lumière’; and
>  ‘Association pour l’accompagnement, la Réhabilitation et 

l’insértion Sociale des Enfants’ - Educational Outreach project. 
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ArtIs Foundation

PaD has always been committed to the development of arts and 
culture in Mauritius and decided to devote on an annual basis 
an amount equivalent to 0.05 per cent of its net assets to the 
creation of an arts and culture fund.
 
ArtIs Foundation was set up in 2014 to accompany young mau-
ritians in their quest for excellence in arts and to give them the 
necessary tools to meet their professional aspirations. The foun-
dation believes that life, for every young person, should be an 
inspiring and creative adventure. 

Conscious that limited access to information and creative oppor-
tunities restricts a young person’s development and reinforces 
social and economic disadvantages, ArtIs aims to support and 

develop ways of tackling inequality of access to studies in fine 
arts, performing arts as well as music. It works to build and 
invest in partnerships with artists and educators as well as for-
eign schools/organisations and/or institutions. Some of the 
youngsters flew to Réunion Island to participate in workshops 
leading to an exhibition at the Fonds Régional d’Art Contem-
porain - FRAC and, since, have joined the Ecole Supérieure des 
Arts (ESA) for Bachelor in Arts. Others have experienced the jazz 
summer school of Berklee College in Italy. 

ArtIs Foundation makes it easier for young school leavers to look 
for appropriate tertiary studies and internships. The program 
also seeks to build young people’s confidence, character and 
resilience through arts and cultural education.
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1.  Valuation of investments in associates and jointly controlled enti-
ties

Key Audit Matter
The Group holds investments in associates and jointly controlled 
entities. The carrying amount of investments in associates and jointly 
controlled entities amounts to Rs.6,195 million at reporting date. The 
significance of the investments in associates and jointly controlled 
entities on the statement of financial position resulted in them being 
identified as a key audit matter. 

In the group financial statements, investment in associates and 
jointly controlled entities are accounted using the equity method.  
The carrying value of the associates includes goodwill amounting to 
Rs.154 million and a significant share of revaluation surplus from 
one of the main associated companies which the Group considers as 
its core investment.

Related Disclosures
Refer to note 6, note 1 accounting policies, price risk, and note 1A 
critical accounting estimates of the accompanying financial state-
ments.

Audit Response
We assessed and tested the design and operating effectiveness of 
selected key controls over the accounting of associates and jointly 
control entities in the group financial statements through the 
following:

>  Reviewed the information used by management and the process in 
place for the preparation of the consolidated financial information. 

>  Reviewed and assessed the work performed with regards to asso-
ciated companies in accordance with ISA 600, to confirm audited 
financial information used in the consolidation process. 

>  Checked the consistency and validated the financial information 
used by management.

>  Reviewed and discussed with management and those charged 
with governance the Group’s assessment of the carrying value of 
goodwill. Where applicable we tested the reasonableness and 
assumptions used including projections of future income, compari-
son of forecast to actual results, discount rates and market value 
as appropriate. 

>  Where applicable we discussed with the component auditor about 
the risks identified as key audit matters in the associated company 
and assessed the impact on the group financial statements. 

2.  Valuation of investment properties

Key Audit Matter
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with 
changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. The fair value 
as determined by the Directors reflects the present day open market 
value arrived at based on the Direct Market Comparison approach 
and the Depreciated Replacement cost approach as appropriate and 
as provided by independent valuers’ valuation. The judgements and 
estimates used in these calculations resulted in the carrying value 
of the investment properties being a key area of focus for our audit. 

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Promo-
tion and Development Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), and 
the Company’s separate financial statements on pages 50 to 108 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at June 30, 
2019, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 50 to 108 give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at June 30, 2019, and of their financial performance and 
their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies 
Act 2001. 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group and of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Mauritius, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
 

Independent
Auditor’s Report  
to the Shareholders 
of Promotion and 
Development Ltd
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>  We performed audit procedures over the valuation and accounting 
of investments in financial assets held by the Company.

>  For unquoted financial assets disclosed as level 3, we tested that 
the valuation techniques adopted reflect the best appropriate basis 
for valuation of the investments. We checked the reasonableness 
of inputs to the valuation techniques used.

>  We reviewed and discussed with management and those charged 
with governance the company’s assessment of whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired and the identi-
fication and completeness of impaired assets.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the financial highlights/performance sum-
mary, corporate information, chairperson’s statement and the 
managing director’s statement, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The chairperson’s 
statement and the managing director’s statement are expected to be 
made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the chairperson’s statement and the managing 
director’s statement, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to 
those charged with governance.

Corporate Governance Report
Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act is to report on 
the compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance disclosed 
in the Annual Report and assess the explanations given for non-
compliance with any requirement of the Code. From our assessment 
of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the Annual 
Report, the public interest entity has, pursuant to section 75 of the 
Financial Reporting Act, complied with the requirements of the Code.

Related Disclosures
Refer to note 3, note 1 accounting policies and note 1A critical 
accounting estimates of the accompanying financial statements.

Audit Response
Our audit procedures include testing of design, existence and operat-
ing effectiveness of internal control procedures implemented as well 
test of details to ensure existence, valuation and completeness of 
the investment properties. We tested the key inputs to the valuation 
of the investment properties as follows:

>  Assessment and discussion of management’s process for the valu-
ation exercise and appointment of the external valuers. We also 
assessed the competence, independence and integrity of the exter-
nal valuers.

>  Obtained the external valuation reports and discussed with the 
external valuers about the results of their work on a sample of 
properties. We discussed and challenged the valuation process, 
performance of the portfolio, significant judgements and assump-
tions applied to the valuation model, including yields, occupancy 
rates and capitalisation rates. We benchmarked and challenged the 
key assumptions to external industry data and comparable prop-
erty valuation where available.

>  Testing the integrity of a sample of the data used by the external 
valuers. This included verifying a sample of information used by the 
external valuers to underlying documentation.

3.  Valuation of financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income

Key Audit Matter
In the Company’s separate financial statements, financial assets are 
carried at fair value. In assessing the fair value of unquoted financial 
assets, the Company uses a variety of methods and makes assump-
tions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting 
date. Many of the inputs required can be obtained from readily avail-
able liquid market prices and rates. Where observable market data is 
not available, in particular for level 3 equity instruments, estimates 
are developed based on the most appropriate source data and are 
subject to significant judgement. Changes in assumptions about 
these factors could affect the fair value of the financial assets. The 
valuation of the Company’s financial assets held at fair value was a 
key area of audit focus due to the complexity involved in the valua-
tion process. 

Related Disclosures
Refer to note 8, note 1 accounting policies, and note 1A critical 
accounting estimates of the accompanying financial statements.

Audit Response
>  We tested the design and implementation and operating effective-

ness of the key controls over the investment valuation process. We 
tested, on a sample basis, the valuation at reporting date and we 
ascertained that the valuation techniques used are appropriate and 
consistent with prior years.
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>  Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group and the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

>  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

>  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with govern-
ance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclo-
sure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such com-
munication.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Govern-
ance for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the require-
ments of the Companies Act 2001, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible 
for assessing the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group and the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group and the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assur-
ance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:  

>  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

>  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s internal control. 

>  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by directors. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Companies Act 2001
We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of 
its subsidiaries, other than in our capacity as auditors, and dealings 
in the ordinary course of business.

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required.  

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the 
Company as far as it appears from our examination of those records.

Other matter

This report is made solely to the shareholders of Promotion and 
Development Limited (the “Company”), as a body, in accordance 
with Section 205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s sharehold-
ers those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

BDO & Co 
Chartered Accountants

Ameenah Ramdin, fcca, aca

licensed by frc

September 27th 2019, Port Louis, Mauritius 



48
R

EC
LA

IM
IN

G
 W

AT
ER

 C
H

A
N

N
EL

S
 F

O
R

 P
EO

P
LE

’S
 P

A
R

K
 -

 P
IL

O
T 

P
R

O
JE

C
T



Financial 
statementsstatements



  T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000MRs000 notesnotes

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2  407,193  319,761  87,660  88,988 
Investment property 3  4,898,514  4,303,824  175,250  166,250 
Intangible assets 4  15,229  3,275  1,312  1,040 
Investments in subsidiary companies 5  -    -    1,594,294  1,673,911 
Investments in associates and jointly controlled entity 6,7  6,194,924  6,318,294  3,103,802  3,573,863 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8  2,701,530  -    2,697,362  -   
Investments in available-for-sale financial assets 8A  -    2,271,270  -    2,271,270 
Trade receivables 10  1,653  2,571  -    -   
Deferred tax assets 14  26,205  14,583  -    -   

 14,245,248  13,233,578  7,659,680  7,775,322 
Current assets
Inventories 9  12,412  9,228  -    -   
Trade and other receivables 10  175,724  258,043  174,141  174,585 
Other financial assets at amortised cost 10A  30,698  -    16,377  -   
Other assets 10B  16,876  -    1,509  -   
Cash and cash equivalents  2,244  322  60  16 

 237,954  267,593  192,087  174,601 
Total assets  14,483,202  13,501,171  7,851,767  7,949,923 

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital 11  194,854  194,854  194,854  194,854 
Other reserves 12  6,835,839  6,821,976  3,255,626  3,700,498 
Retained earnings 23  3,963,824  3,671,418  3,159,665  2,934,541 

 10,994,517  10,688,248  6,610,145  6,829,893 

Less: treasury shares 11  (371)  (104)  (371)  (104)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  10,994,146  10,688,144  6,609,774  6,829,789 
Non-controlling interests  1,200,881  1,162,901  -    -   
Total equity  12,195,027  11,851,045  6,609,774  6,829,789 

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 13  1,170,000  650,000  650,000  650,000 
Deferred tax liabilities 14  223,977  179,643  5,682  5,107 
Retirement benefit obligations 15  34,489  38,796  2,794  15,247 

 1,428,466  868,439  658,476  670,354 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16  232,169  310,132  44,820  29,992 
Contract liabilities 16A  1,687  -    -    -   
Current tax liabilities  2,722  3,888  1,260  507 
Borrowings 13  520,056  366,398  434,362  318,012 
Dividend proposed 17  103,075  101,269  103,075  101,269 

 859,709  781,687  583,517  449,780 
Total liabilities  2,288,175  1,650,126  1,241,993  1,120,134 
Total equity and liabilities  14,483,202  13,501,171  7,851,767  7,949,923 

Net assets per share   MRsMRs  282.65  274.41  169.93  175.35 
Number of shares  38,896,267  38,949,760  38,896,267  38,949,760 
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors on September   27th 2019. 

 Jean-Philippe Coulier  Chairperson  René Leclézio  Managing Director

The notes on pages 54 to 108  form an integral part of these financial statements. The auditor’s report is on pages 44 to 47.
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 T H E   G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 notes

Turnover   599,081  563,779  345,459  313,567 
Operating expenses  (474,359)  (413,592)  (71,923)  (71,810)

 124,722  150,187  273,536  241,757 
Net impairment on financial assets   (6,472)  6,024    -    -   
Finance income  18  933  1,019  1,862  63 
Finance costs  18  (82,635)  (53,673)  (62,309)  (55,455)
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property  3  225,864  16,504  14,700  1,550 
Non-recurring items 24  -    -    136,866  -   
Profit on disposal of associates  8,466  -    -    -   
Impairment loss in associate 6  (678)  -    -    -   
Gain on remeasurement of equity interests 29  3,708  -    -    -   
Share of results of associates  6  136,491  (166,566)  -    -   
Gain on bargain purchase    -    12,357  -    -   
Profit/(loss) before taxation  410,399  (34,148)  364,655  187,915 
Taxation  20  (39,752)  (38,307)  (2,145)  (1,605)
Profit/(loss) for the year  370,647  (72,455)  362,510  186,310 

Other comprehensive income 21 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations  (4,634)  (1,296)  561  (739)
Deferred tax on remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations  788  221  (95)  126 
Group’s share of other comprehensive income of associates 6  36,669  (38,351)  -    -   
Changes in fair value of financial assets through other comprehensive income 8  124,177  -    124,198  -   
Changes in fair value of investments in subsidiaries 5  -    -    (79,617)  -   
Changes in fair value of investments in associates 6  -    -    (473,714)  -   

 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Group’s share of other comprehensive income of associates 6  348  45,086  -    -   
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets  8A  -    17,557  -    17,557 
Fair value gains on subsidiaries  5  -    -    -    49,693 
Fair value gains on associates  6  -    -    -    260,377 
Currency translation differences    153  (7)  -    -   
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  157,501  23,210  (428,667)  327,014 

Total comprehensive income for the year  528,148  (49,245)  (66,157)  513,324 

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
Owners of the parent  306,372  (102,888)  362,510  186,310 
Non-controlling interests  64,275  30,433  -    -   

 370,647  (72,455)  362,510  186,310 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Owners of the parent  465,095  (79,540)  (66,157)  513,324 
Non-controlling interests  63,053  30,295  -    -   

 528,148  (49,245)  (66,157)  513,324 

Earnings/(loss) per share   MRs 22A  7.87  (2.64)

Adjusted earnings/(loss) per share   MRs 22B  3.83  (1.20)

The notes on pages 54 to 108  form an integral part of these financial statements. The auditor’s report is on pages 44 to 47.
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T H E  G R O U P attributable to owners of the parent non total
controlling equity

interests
share treasury other retained total

MRs000 notes capital shares reserves earnings

At July 1st 2017  194,766  (107)  6,810,820  3,900,701  10,906,180  1,156,110  12,062,290 
Issue of shares  88  (88)  -    -    -    -    -   
Exercise of share options  -    91  1,632  -    1,723  -    1,723 
Dividend 17  -    -    -    (140,219)  (140,219)  (23,504)  (163,723)
(Loss)/profit for the year  -    -    -    (102,888)  (102,888)  30,433  (72,455)
Transfer  -    -    (878)  878  -    -    -   
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    10,402  12,946  23,348  (138)  23,210 
At June 30th 2018  194,854  (104)  6,821,976  3,671,418  10,688,144  1,162,901  11,851,045 

At July 1st 2018 (as previously reported)  194,854  (104)  6,821,976  3,671,418  10,688,144  1,162,901  11,851,045 
Adjustment on initial application of 
   IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 30  -    -    -    (3,773)  (3,773)  (1,569)  (5,342)
At July 1st 2018 (as restated)  194,854  (104)  6,821,976  3,667,645  10,684,371  1,161,332  11,845,703 
Shares held as treasury 11  -    (267)  (5,724)  -    (5,991)  -    (5,991)
Impact of change in shareholding in
   associates  -    -    -    (1,462)  (1,462)  -    (1,462)
Dividend 17  -    -    -    (147,867)  (147,867)  (23,504)  (171,371)
Profit for the year  -    -    -    306,372  306,372  64,275  370,647 
Transfer  -    -    (138,990)  138,990  -    -    -   
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    158,577  146  158,723  (1,222)  157,501 
At June 30th 2019  194,854  (371)  6,835,839  3,963,824  10,994,146  1,200,881  12,195,027 

T H E  C O M P A N Y
share treasury other retained total

MRs000 notes capital shares reserves earnings

At July 1st 2017  194,766  (107)  3,371,852  2,888,450  6,454,961 
Issue of shares  88  (88)  -    -    -   
Exercise of share options  -    91  1,632  -    1,723 
Dividend 17  -    -    -    (140,219)  (140,219)
Profit for the year  -    -    -    186,310  186,310 
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    327,014  -    327,014 
At June 30th 2018  194,854  (104)  3,700,498  2,934,541  6,829,789 

At July 1st 2018  194,854  (104)  3,700,498  2,934,541  6,829,789 
Shares held as treasury (notes 11 and 12)  -    (267)  (5,724)  -    (5,991)
Transfer  -    -    (10,481)  10,481  -   
Dividend 17  -    -    -    (147,867)  (147,867)
Profit for the year  -    -    -    362,510  362,510 
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    (428,667)  -    (428,667)
At June 30th 2019  194,854  (371)  3,255,626  3,159,665  6,609,774 

The notes on pages 54 to 108  form an integral part of these financial statements. The auditor’s report is on pages 44 to 47.
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 T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from investments  265,962  207,364  322,403  263,848 
Cash received from tenants  226,305  265,757  5,098  5,344 
Security fees  244,288  241,129  -    -   
Cash received from other operating activities  18,987  1,910  27,149  20,226 
Operating cash payments  (448,939)  (385,381)  (66,931)  (66,108)
Cash generated from operating activities  306,603  330,779  287,719  223,310 
Interest paid  (81,048)  (53,577)  (61,017)  (55,362)
Interest income  586  841  1,553  2 
Net income tax paid  (13,057)  (10,782)  (913)  (137)
Net cash generated from operating activities  213,084  267,261  227,342  167,813 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,979  1,198  130  -   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (59,053)  (12,198)  (2,238)  (2,442)
Purchase of intangible assets  (1,966)  (2,993)  (387)  (982)
Investment in subsidiary, net of cash acquired 29  (1,777)  -    -    -   
Purchase of associates  (16,023)  (9,732)  (16,023)  (9,732)
Proceeds from disposal of associates  11,444  -    11,444  -   
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  (187,348)  -    (187,348)  -   
Payments in respect of investment property  (502,850)  (251,262)  -    -   
Proceeds from disposal of investment property  36,827  -    1,200  -   
Amounts paid on behalf of joint venture  (2,807)  (1,958)  -    -   
Other cash inflows/(outflows)  6,347  (733)  (4,365)  (435)
Net cash used in investing activities  (715,227)  (277,678)  (197,587)  (13,591)
Net cash flow before financing activities  (502,143)  (10,417)  29,755  154,222 

Cash flows from financing activities
Net loan received from associates  26,100  500  26,100  500 
Net loan refunded to subsidiaries  -    -    -    (141,079)
Net loan granted to related companies  -    (1,500)  -    -   
Proceeds from bank borrowings  520,000  -    -    -   
Dividends paid to company's shareholders  (146,061)  (136,279)  (146,061)  (136,279)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (23,504)  (23,504)  -    -   
Employee share options exercised  -    1,723  -    1,723 
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  376,535  (159,060)  (119,961)  (275,135)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (125,608)  (169,477)  (90,206)  (120,913)
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1st  (366,076)  (196,729)  (317,996)  (197,083)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (28)  130  -    -   
Cash and cash equivalents at June 30th  (491,712)  (366,076)  (408,202)  (317,996)

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Bank and cash balances  2,244  322  60  16 
Bank overdrafts 13  (493,956)  (366,398)  (408,262)  (318,012)

 (491,712)  (366,076)  (408,202)  (317,996)

The notes on pages 54 to 108  form an integral part of these financial statements. The auditor’s report is on pages 44 to 47.

2 0 1 9 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 82 0 1 8

year ended June 30th 201year ended June 30th 20199

statements of cash flowsstatements of cash flows
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Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effec-
tive in the reporting period

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, clas-
sification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and 
hedge accounting. The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from July 
1st 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The new accounting policies 
are set out below. The Group has elected to apply the exemption in ifrs 9 para-
graph 7.2.15 not to restate prior periods in the year of initial application of 
the standard. The Group has chosen to adopt the simplified expected credit 
loss model for trade receivables in accordance with ifrs 9 paragraph 5.5.15.

ifrs 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is based on the principle 
that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a 
customer. The Group has adopted ifrs 15 Revenue from Contracts with Cus-
tomers from July 1st 2018 which resulted in changes in accounting policies 
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The 
new accounting policies are set out below.  In accordance with the transition 
provisions in ifrs 15, the Group has not restated comparatives for the 2018 
financial year. 

(Amendments to ifrs 2)
  Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transac-

tions
  The amendments clarify the measurement basis for cash-settled 

share-based payments and the accounting for modifications that 
change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amend-
ment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(Amendments to ifrs 4)
  Applying ifrs 9 Financial Instruments with ifrs 4 Insurance Contracts
  The amendment provides two different solutions for insurance com-

panies: a temporary exemption from ifrs 9 for entities that meet 
specific requirements (applied at the reporting entity level), and the 
‘overlay approach’. Both approaches are optional. The amendment 
has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to ifrss 2014-2016 cycle
ifrs 11
  Deleted short-term exemptions covering transition provisions of ifrs 

7, ias 19 and ifrs 10 which are no longer relevant.

ifrs 28
  Clarifies that the election by venture capital organisations, mutual 

funds, unit trusts and similar entities to measure investments in 
associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss should 
be made separately for each associate or joint venture at initial rec-
ognition. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

general information

Promotion and Development Ltd is a limited liability company incorporated 
and domiciled in Mauritius. The address of its registered office is 8th Floor, 
Dias Pier, Le Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis. The company is listed on the 
official market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. These consolidated 
financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors 
on September 27th 2019 and will be submitted for consideration and approval 
at the forthcoming annual meeting of the shareholders of the company.

1   Significant accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements is set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Promotion and Development Ltd comply with the 
Companies Act 2001 and have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (ifrss).The financial statements include the 
consolidated financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiary 
companies (the group) and the separate financial statements of the parent 
company (the company).The financial statements are presented in Mauritian 
Rupees and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (MRs000), except 
when otherwise indicated. Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
amended to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. The finan-
cial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that:
>  investment properties are stated at fair value;
>   certain class of property, plant and equipment namely agricultural land, fac-

tory building and other specific assets held through associates are carried 
at revalued amounts/deemed costs; 

>   relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are stated at their value; 
and

>   relevant financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised 
cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ifrss requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires man-
agement to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the 
company’s accounting policies. Critical accounting estimates and assump-
tions used that are significant to the financial statements and areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity are disclosed in note 1a.

The group and the company had net current liabilities of MRs622m (2018: 
MRs514m) and MRs391m (2018: MRs275m) respectively at June 30th 2019. 
The board is satisfied that the group and the company have the resources to 
meet their liabilities in foreseeable future. Furthermore, the board is not aware 
of any uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue on as a going concern. The financial statements 
are prepared on a going concern basis.
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ifrs 16
  Leases - effective July 01st 2019
  Adoption of IFRS 16 will result in the Group recognising right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities for all contracts that are, or contain, a 
lease. For leases currently classified as operating leases, under cur-
rent accounting requirements the group does not recognise related 
assets or liabilities, and instead spreads the lease payments on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term, disclosing in its annual finan-
cial statements the total commitment. The Group is assessing the 
impact of this new standard and will adopt the standard when it 
becomes effective.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed 
below, depending on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. The 
Group’s accounting policy for each category is as follows:

Amortised cost
These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to cus-
tomers (eg trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial 
assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contrac-
tual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subse-
quently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
provision for impairment. 

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the sim-
plified approach within ifrs9 using the lifetime expected credit losses. During 
this process the probability of the non-payment of the trade receivables is 
assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected 
loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for 
the trade receivables. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such 
provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being 
recognised within operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive 
income.  On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the 
gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provi-
sion.

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related 
parties are recognised based on a forward looking expected credit loss model.  
The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recog-
nition of the financial asset (refer to note 10A).

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position. 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows - bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
loans and borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial 
position.

(Amendments to ifric 22)
  Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
  The interpretation clarifies how to determine the date of transaction 

for the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of a related 
asset, expense or income where an entity pays or receives consid-
eration in advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts. The 
amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(Amendments to ias 40)
  Transfers of Investment Property
  The amendments clarify that transfers to, or from, investment prop-

erty can only be made if there has been a change in use that is 
supported by evidence. A change in use occurs when the property 
meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. A 
change in intention alone is not sufficient to support a transfer. The 
amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued 
but not yet effective

Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations 
have been issued that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or 
after July 1st 2019 or later periods, but which the Group has not early adopted.

At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in is-
sue but not yet effective:

Amendments to ifrs 10 and ias 28
  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture
ifrs 16  Leases
ifrs 17
  Insurance Contracts
ifric 23
  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
(Amendments to ifrs 9)
  Prepayment Features with negative compensation
(Amendments to ias 28)
  Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 
Annual Improvements to ifrss 2015–2017 Cycle
(Amendments to ias 19)
  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
(Amendments to ifrs 3)
  Definition of a Business
(Amendments to ias 1 and ias 8)
  Definition of Material

Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, 
Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet 
effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

N O T E S  N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T ST O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

year ended June 30th 201year ended June 30th 20199
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Consolidated financial statements
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the 
group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is trans-
ferred to the group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control 
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business com-
binations by the group. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent con-
sideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous 
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the 
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase gain. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transac-
tions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Transactions and non-controlling interests
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions 
with equity owners of the group. For purchases from non-controlling inter-
ests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share 
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in 
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also 
recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries
When the group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained 
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carry-
ing amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained inter-
est as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity 
are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other com-
prehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income 
The Group has a number of strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities 
which are not accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled 
entities. For those investments, the Company/Group has made an irrevocable 
election to classify the investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income rather than through profit or loss as the Company/Group considers 
this measurement to be the most representative of the business model for 
these assets. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value 
through other comprehensive income reserve. Upon disposal any balance 
within fair value through other comprehensive income reserve is reclassified 
directly to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly repre-
sents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case the full or 
partial amount of the dividend is recorded against the associated investments 
carrying amount.

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are recognised on settlement date with any change in 
fair value between trade date and settlement date being recognised in the fair 
value through other comprehensive income reserve. 

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities into the following category.

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities include the following items:

Bank borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction 
costs directly attributable to the issue of the instrument.  Such interest bear-
ing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period 
to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the 
statement of financial position. For the purposes of each financial liability, 
interest expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium payable 
on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is 
outstanding.

Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities which are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Investments in subsidiary companies
Separate financial statements of the company
In the separate financial statements of the company, investments in subsid-
iary companies are carried at fair value. The carrying amount is reduced to 
recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments. Changes in 
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Joint venture is accounted for using the equity method and under this method, 
the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise the group’s share of the profit or loss of 
the joint venture after the date of acquisition. The group’s share of its joint 
venture post acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves in 
other comprehensive income. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a joint 
venture entity is included with the carrying amount of the joint venture and 
tested annually for impairment. When the group’s share of losses exceeds the 
carrying amount of the investment, the latter is reported at nil value. Recogni-
tion of the group’s share of losses is discontinued except to the extent of the 
group’s legal and constructive obligations contracted by the joint venture. If 
the joint venture subsequently reports profits, the group’s resumes recognis-
ing its share of those profits after accounting for its share of unrecognised 
past losses. Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the 
group’s interest in the joint venture.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as estab-
lished at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment 
testing. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the gains and losses on disposal.

Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are 
amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding five years). Costs 
associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes 
are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and 
unique software controlled by the group and that will generate economic 
benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible 
assets. Direct costs include the software development employee costs and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Customer list 
Customer list represents the value of the customer portfolio and has been 
amortised over a period of two years. The customer portfolio was previously 
tested for impairment annually.

Investment property
Investment property, which is property held for long-term rental yields and/
or capital appreciation, and is not occupied by the companies in the group, is 
initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, it is stated at its fair value at the end of the reporting period. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of investment property are 
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. Property that is 
under construction or development to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
or both is accounted as investment property.

Investments in associates
Separate financial statements of the company
In the separate financial statements of the company, investments in associ-
ated companies are carried at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of 
individual investments.

Consolidated financial statements
An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence but no 
control, or joint control, generally accompanying a shareholding between 20% 
and 50% of the voting rights. 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method except 
when classified as held-for-sale. Investments in associates are initially recog-
nised at cost as adjusted by post acquisition changes in the group’s share of 
the net assets of the associate less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition and the group’s share of the net 
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities recog-
nised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
group’s share of the net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities 
over the cost of acquisition, after assessment, is included as income in 
the determination of the group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss.
When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the 
group discontinues recognising further losses, unless it has incurred legal or 
constructive obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group’s 
interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Where necessary, appropriate adjustments are made to the financial state-
ments of associates to bring the accounting policies used in line with those 
adopted by the group.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence 
is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where 
appropriate.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Investments in joint venture
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint con-
trol of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. 
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unani-
mous consent of the parties sharing control.

N O T E S  N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T ST O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

year ended June 30th 201year ended June 30th 20199
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Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. 

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and 
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impair-
ment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the pur-
poses of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

Operating leases
Lease of assets
Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effec-
tively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the leases. 

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, 
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised 
as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

Operating leases - lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in plant and equip-
ment in the statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar fixed assets. Rental 
income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined on the basis of either weighted average price or on a first-in, first-
out (fifo) method. Costs comprise direct costs. Net realisable value is the 
estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business less the costs 
of completion and selling expenses. 

Spares and accessories included under inventories consist of items which are 
regularly used for repairs, maintenance and new installations.

A full valuation is carried out every five years by external independent valuers. 
Each year the values are reviewed and updated by the valuers so as to identify 
if there is any material fluctuation in the fair value of the investment properties. 
Where after consultation with the independent valuers, the directors are 
satisfied that the book values of the investment properties reflect their fair 
values, no adjustment is made to the carrying values of investment properties 
during the period in between. 

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, 
plant and equipment, its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its 
cost for subsequent accounting.

Property, plant and equipment
All plant and equipment, including property, which is occupied by the group, 
are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expen-
diture that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable that future eco-
nomic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other 
comprehensive income and shown as revaluation surplus in shareholders’ 
equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged 
against revaluation surplus directly in equity: all other decreases are charged 
to profit or loss.

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administra-
tive purposes or for purposes not yet determined are carried at cost less any 
recognised impairment loss. Costs including professional fees and for qualify-
ing assets, borrowing costs are capitalised. Depreciation of these are on the 
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready 
for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of 
assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Property    1%
Equipment, furniture and fittings   5–33 1/

3
%

Motor vehicles      11–12%
Land is not depreciated

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if 
appropriate at the end of each reporting period. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recover-
able amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are deter-
mined by comparing proceeds with their carrying amount and are included in 
profit or loss. On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts included in revalu-
ation surplus are transferred to retained earnings. 
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Retirement benefit obligations
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the subsidiaries 
pay fixed contributions into a separate entity. The subsidiaries have no legal 
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. Payments to defined contribution 
plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service 
that entitles them to the contributions. 
Certain subsidiaries also operate a defined contribution retirement benefit 
plan for qualifying employees. 

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution 
plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that 
an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more fac-
tors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The 
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actu-
arial assumptions, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect 
of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), is recognised immediately in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasure-
ments recognised in other comprehensive income shall not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent period.

The group determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined 
benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to 
measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period 
to the net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in 
the net defined liability/(asset) during the period as a result of contributions 
and benefit payments. Net interest expense/(income) is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Service costs comprising current service cost, past service cost, as well as 
gains and losses on curtailments and settlements are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

As of July 1st 2016, the company has introduced a Defined Contribution Cash 
Balanced scheme (DCCB) for its employees. With the introduction of DCCB, 
new employees automatically join the DCCB section, whilst existing employ-
ees has a one-time opportunity to choose from one of the options listed below:

>   option A: To stay in the Defined Benefit (DB) section for all service;
>   option B: To keep the accrued past pension benefits until June 30th 2016 in 

the DB section and join the DCCB section as from July 1st 2016;
>   option C: To join the DCCB section as from July 1st 2016 and transfer the 

total accrued benefits as as June 30th 2016 from the DB section into the 
DCCB section.

Share capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attribut-
able to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as deduction, 
net of tax, from proceeds. 

Treasury shares
Where any group company purchases its equity share capital (treasury shares), 
the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs 
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the company’s 
equity holders as equity shares until they are cancelled. When such shares 
are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in 
shareholders’ equity.

Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises of current and deferred tax. Tax is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recog-
nised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax
The current income tax charge is based on taxable income for the year calcu-
lated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and includes corporate social responsibility charge.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on tempo-
rary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  However, if the deferred 
income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transac-
tion, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply in the 
period when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised.
 
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the 
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely 
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebut-
ted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic ben-
efits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
Every Mauritian company is required to set up a CSR fund equivalent to 2% of 
its chargeable income of the preceding year and the company should remit 
75% of the fund respectively to the Mauritian Tax Authorities. This practice is 
being interpreted and CSR is classified as taxation.

N O T E S  N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T ST O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
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Revenue recognition
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition  
The Group has identified three main business segments namely property, 
investment holding and security services which contribute in generating 
most of its revenue from contracts with customers. Revenue from customers 
includes both sales of goods and sales of services made to customers.  The 
property segment is highly involved in the rental of properties. The invest-
ment holding segment consists of investment in shares. The security services 
segment is involved in the provision of guarding services, installation and 
monitoring of alarm systems, cash in transit, armed sentry and rental of alarm 
systems.

The majority of the revenue generated from the sale of goods and sale of ser-
vices defined above are recognised at a point in time when the control of the 
goods or services rendered is actually transferred to the customer. This is gen-
erally when the goods or services are delivered to the customer.

Revenue from property segment
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over 
the lease term. It is recognised in the accounting period in which the property 
is occupied by the tenant. Revenue is measured based on the consideration 
specified in the different contracts with customers and net of value-added tax, 
rebates and discounts.

Revenue from security services
The revenue is derived from providing provision of guarding services, monitor-
ing of alarm systems, cash in transit, armed sentry and rental of alarm systems 
with revenue recognised at a point in time when control has transferred to 
the customer. This is generally when the goods are delivered and/or services 
rendered to the customer. However, for sales and installation of alarm system, 
control is transferred only upon commissioning of the alarm system and user 
acceptance, at which point the Group will have a present right to payment (as 
a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and 
rewards of the goods in question.

Revenue from investment holdings
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment is established except for the cumulative portion of dividends on 
preference shares which is accounted for on the accruals basis unless receipt 
is in doubt.

Determining transactions price 
The transaction price of the Group’s revenue streams is mostly derived from 
fixed price contracts and therefore the amount of revenue to be earned from 
each contract is determined by reference to those fixed prices.

Gratuity on retirement
The net present value of gratuity on retirement payable under the Employ-
ment Rights Act 2008 (as amended) has been provided for in respect of those 
employees who are not covered or who are insufficiently covered by the above 
retirement benefit plan. The obligations arising under this item are not funded.

The Employment Rights Act stipulates that the Gratuity paid on Retirement 
should be based on the remuneration (which is inclusive of payment for extra 
work,  productivity bonus, attendance bonus, commission in return for ser-
vices and any other regular payment)  of the employee. The amount due per 
year of service is 15 days remuneration based on a month of 26 days (15/26).

Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Mauritian rupees, 
which is the company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rates pre-
vailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in 
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and 
cash equivalents are presented in profit or loss within ‘finance income or 
costs’. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities clas-
sified as available-for-sale financial assets are included in reserves in equity.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources 
that can be reliably estimated will be required to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, tak-
ing into account the risk and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Turnover
Turnover consists of rental and investment income, commissions, income 
from security activities and management fees receivable.
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Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including rev-
enues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the group’s other 
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the group’s Managing Director to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. Segment reporting is shown in note 25.

Transfer pricing
The group has presently no policy in respect of transfer pricing.

Non-recurring items
Non-recurring items are disclosed separately in the financial statements 
where it is necessary to do so to provide further understanding of the financial 
performance of the group. There are material items of income or expense that 
have been shown separately due to the significance of their nature or amount.

Related parties
Related parties are individuals and enterprises where the individual or enter-
prise has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.

Financial risk factors
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk 
(including currency risk, fair value and cash flow interest risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredict-
ability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the treasury department under policies 
approved by the board of directors.

Market risk
Currency risk
The group has foreign currency denominated cash balances and is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency exposure.

The impacts on post-tax profits are insignificant since the group holds small 
amounts of foreign currency denominated cash balances.

Allocating amounts to performance obligations
For most contracts, there is a fixed unit price for each product sold or ser-
vices rendered, with reductions given for bulk orders placed at a specific time.  
Therefore, there is no judgement involved in allocating the contract price to 
each unit ordered in such contracts (it is the total contract price divided by the 
number of units ordered).  Where a customer orders more than one product 
line, the Company is able to determine the split of the total contract price 
between each product line by reference to each product’s standalone selling 
prices (all product lines are capable of being, and are, sold separately). For 
contracts which are recognised typically on an over time basis, the revenue is 
only recognise on commissioning of goods and user acceptance.

Costs of obtaining long-term contracts and costs of fulfilling contracts
The costs of fulfilling contracts do not result in the recognition of a separate 
asset because:

>   such costs are included in the carrying amount of inventory for contracts 
involving the sale of goods; and

>   for service contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to upon 
commissioning of the alarm system and user acceptance at which point the 
Group will have a present right to payment and retains none of the signifi-
cant risks and rewards of the goods in question. Consequently, no asset for 
work in progress is recognised.

(b) Other revenues earned by the Group are recognised on the following 
bases:

>   Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets 
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the finan-
cial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

>   Management fees - Recognise variable consideration as revenue when it 
is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative amount of 
revenue recognised will not occur (recognises management fee income 
only when key financial metrics, on which the management fees computed, 
are met).

>   Revenue from sale of food and beverages - Recognises revenue when a cus-
tomer takes possession of the food and beverage ordered. The transaction 
price is specified on the price list provided on the menus.

>   Revenue from conferencing - The revenue is recognised when we have pro-
vided a conference facility to the customer as per their request.

Dividend distribution
Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in which they 
are declared by the board of directors.
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Sensitivity analysis
The impact of increases/decreases in the fair value of investments on the 
group’s and company’s equity is shown below. The analysis is based on the 
assumption that the fair value had increased/decreased by 5%.

  THE GROUP THE COMPANY

MRs000  2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8

Investments in 

 subsidiary companies - - 79,715 83,696

Investments in 

  associates - - 155,190 178,693

Available-for-sale 

  financial assets - 113,564 - 113,564

Other financial assets

  at fair value through other 

  comprehensive income 135,077 -  134,868  -

Credit risk 
Credit risks arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposure 
to customers, including outstanding receivables.

Credit risk is managed on a Company basis. For banks and financial institu-
tions, only independently rated parties are accepted.

Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its 
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are 
set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the 
board. The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored 
by line management.

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk with a financial 
institution.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meet-
ing the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivery of cash or another financial asset. Prudent liquid-
ity management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of commit-
ted credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The group 
is exposed to calls on its available cash resources from maturing debts.

Currency 

  THE  GROUP THE COMPANY

  financial financial financial financial
  assets liabilities assets liabilities

2 0 1 9      MRs000

MUR   8,906,760   2,008,773   7,386,036    1,214,043 

EURO  2 - - -

HKD  3 - - -

SGD  8 - - -

USD  13 - - -

ZAR   200,000  -  200,000  -

Total   9,106,786  2,008,773   7,586,036  1,214,043 

2 0 1 8

MUR  8,780,888 1,419,837 7,691,435 1,091,311

EURO  8 - - -

HKD  3 - - -

SGD  8 - - -

Total  8,780,907 1,419,837 7,691,435 1,091,311

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the group’s income 
and operating cash inflows are substantially independent of changes in 
market interest rates. The group’s interest-rate risk arises from long-term bor-
rowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow 
interest-rate risk. The group’s interest rate risk is closely monitored by man-
agement on a regular basis which is then approved by the audit committee 
and the board of directors. Management systematically analyses the interest 
rate exposure and assesses the potential impact on the financial position of 
the group. Various scenarios are considered such as rescheduling of existing 
loans, early repayment options and renegotiating favourable interest rates. 
The risk is also managed by maintaining an appropriate level of debt and 
monitoring the gearing ratio.
 
At June 30th 2019, if interest rates on borrowings had been 50 basis points 
higher/lower during the year with all other variables held constant, post-tax 
profit for the year would have been MRs4.6m (2018: MRs3.9m) lower/higher 
for the group and MRs4.6m (2018: MRs4.0m) lower/higher for the company, 
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Price risk
The group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments 
held by the group in subsidiary companies, associated companies and others 
classified as available-for-sale. The group is not exposed to commodity price 
risk. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the 
group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of its portfolio is done in accor-
dance with the limits set by the group.
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Fair value estimation
The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s 
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments 
classified as trading securities or available-for-sale. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is 
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maxi-
mise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little 
as possible on specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value 
an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market 
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

>  quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;
>  the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves;
>  the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using for-

ward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, with the resulting 
value discounted back to present value, and

>  other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to deter-
mine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and 
payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of finan-
cial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to 
the group for similar financial instruments.

Analysis of the group’s non derivative financial liabilities into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the re-
porting period to the contractual maturity date

years  less than between between over
  1 1 & 2 2 & 5 5

at June 30th     MRs000

THE GROUP

2 0 1 9

Bank borrowings  493,956 36,000 363,500 770,500

Loan from associate  26,100 - - -

Trade and other 

  payables  232,169 - - -

  Contract liabilities 1,687 - - -

2 0 1 8

Bank borrowings  366,398 - 130,000 520,000

Trade and other 

  payables  310,132 - - -

THE COMPANY

2 0 1 9

Bank borrowings  408,262 - 195,000 455,000

Loan from associate  26,100 - - -

Trade and other 

  payables  44,820 - - -

2 0 1 8

Bank borrowings  318,012 - 130,000 520,000

Trade and other 

  payables  29,992 - - -
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Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are:
>   to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stake-
holders, and

>   to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The group manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistently with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the 
basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt 
adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt adjusted for cash and 
cash equivalents and adjusted capital comprises all components of equity.

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratios

  THE GROUP        THE COMPANY

at June 30th 2 0 1 9  2 0 1 8  2 0 1 9    2 0 1 8

MRs000  

Total debt    1,196,100  650,000   676,100  650,000

Cash and cash 

  equivalents  491,712  366,076  408,202  317,996

Net debt   1,687,812  1,016,076   1,084,302  967,996

Total equity  12,195,027  11,851,045  6,609,774  6,829,780

Debt to adjusted 

  capital ratio 0.14 0.09 0.16 0.14

There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital risk management 
during the year. 

1A   critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on his-
torical experience and other factors including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and investment property may therefore increase or decrease, based 
on prevailing economic conditions.

Pension benefits 
The present value of the pension obligations depend on a number of factors 
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The 
assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include 
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying 
amount of pension obligations.

The group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. 
This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of 
estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension 
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the group considers 
the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current 
market conditions.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties 
The group carries its investment properties at fair value, with change in fair 
value being recognised in the profit or loss. The fair value is determined by 
directors’ valuation based on independent valuer’s valuation. 

For the purpose of the valuation carried out as at June 30th 2019, the sales 
comparison approach and depreciated replacement cost approach have been 
used.

Impairment of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk 
of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in mak-
ing these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, 
based on the Group past history, existing market conditions as well as forward 
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market
The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market may be determined 
by the group using valuation techniques including third party transaction 
values, earnings, net asset value or discounted cash flows, whichever is con-
sidered to be appropriate. The group would exercise judgment and estimates 
on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Changes in assump-
tions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial 
instruments.
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Limitation of sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity analysis in respect of market risk demonstrates the effect of a 
change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged. 
In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. 
It should also be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear and larger or 
smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results.

Asset lives and residual values
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life taking into 
account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets 
and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a 
number of factors. In reassessing asset lives, factors such as technological 
innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into 
account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market 
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. 
Consideration is also given to the extent of current profits and losses on the 
disposal of similar assets.

Depreciation policies
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives. The residual value of an asset is the estimated 
net amount that the group would currently obtain from disposal of the asset, 
if the asset was already of the age and in condition expected at the end of its 
useful life.

The directors therefore make estimates based on historical experience and 
use best judgment to assess the useful lives of assets and to forecast the 
expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected useful lives.

Impairment of assets
Goodwill is considered for impairment at least annually. Property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets are considered for impairment if there is a 
reason to believe that impairment may be necessary. Factors taken into con-
sideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability of the 
asset itself and where it is a component of a larger economic unit, the viability 
of that unit itself.

Deferred tax on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets 
arising from investment properties, the directors reviewed the group’s 
investment property portfolio and concluded that the investment properties 
are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substan-
tially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties 
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the deferred 
taxation on investment properties,  the directors have determined that the 
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured 
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
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 2 property, plant and equipment

T H E  G R O U P land equipment, motor total
& building furniture & vehicles

MRs000 notes fittings

Cost 
At July 1st 2018  297,705  148,116  60,005  505,826 
Acquisition through business combination 29  -    213  -    213 
Transfer from investment property 3  42,400  -    -    42,400 
Additions  13,784  46,967  10,098  70,849 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (524)  (8,058)  (8,582)
At June 30th 2019  353,889  194,772  62,045  610,706 

Depreciation
At July 1st 2018  20,832  128,953  36,280  186,065 
Acquisition through business combination 29 -  86 -  86 
Charge for the year  2,716  16,372  5,973  25,061 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (524)  (7,175)  (7,699)
At June 30th 2019  23,548  144,887  35,078  203,513 

Net book values
At June 30th 2019  330,341  49,885  26,967  407,193 

Cost 
At July 1st 2017  228,992  143,758  58,324  431,074 
Transfer from investment property 3  68,255  -    -    68,255 
Additions  458  4,842  5,135  10,435 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (484)  (3,454)  (3,938)
At June 30th 2018  297,705  148,116  60,005  505,826 

Depreciation
At July 1st 2017  18,359  116,422  33,510  168,291 
Charge for the year  2,473  13,015  5,531  21,019 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (484)  (2,761)  (3,245)
At June 30th 2018  20,832  128,953  36,280  186,065 

Net book values
At June 30th 2018  276,873  19,163  23,725  319,761 
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 2 property, plant and equipment  continued

T H E  C O M P A N Y property equipment, motor total
furniture & vehicles

MRs000 fittings

Cost 
At July 1st 2018  84,817  34,455  10,554  129,826 
Additions  -    4,074  -    4,074 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (524)  (895)  (1,419)
At June 30th 2019  84,817  38,005  9,659  132,481 

Depreciation
At July 1st 2018  7,424  29,881  3,533  40,838 
Charge for the year  848  3,246  1,174  5,268 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (524)  (761)  (1,285)
At June 30th 2019  8,272  32,603  3,946  44,821 

Net book values
At June 30th 2019  76,545  5,402  5,713  87,660 

Cost 
At July 1st 2017  84,817  34,719  9,948  129,484 
Additions  -    -    606  606 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (264)  -    (264)
At June 30th 2018  84,817  34,455  10,554  129,826 

Depreciation
At July 1st 2017  6,576  27,010  2,390  35,976 
Charge for the year  848  3,135  1,143  5,126 
Disposal/amount written off  -    (264)  -    (264)
At June 30th 2018  7,424  29,881  3,533  40,838 

Net book values
At June 30th 2018  77,393  4,574  7,021  88,988 

>  Bank borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the borrowing companies including property, plant and equipment (note 13). > Depreciation 
charge of MRs25.061m for the group (2018: MRs21.019m) and MRs5.268m for the company (2018: MRs5.126m) has been included in operating expenses.
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 3 investment property

level 2
T H E  G R O U P freehold long leasehold total total

Le Caudan buildings in other land buildings 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8
Waterfront progress and buildings

Le Caudan 
MRs000 note Waterfront

Fair value model
At July 1st  3,410,178  474,898  274,048  144,700  4,303,824  3,995,563 
Additions  -    452,553  -    -    452,553  360,012 
Disposals  (35,627)  -    (5,700)  -    (41,327)  -   
Transfer  885,051  (885,051)  -    -    -    -
Transfer to property, plant and equipment 2  -    (42,400)  -    -    (42,400)  (68,255)   
Net gain from fair value adjustment on
  investment property  242,991  -    16,501  (33,628)  225,864  16,504 
At June 30th  4,502,593  -    284,849  111,072  4,898,514  4,303,824 

level 2
T H E  C O M P A N Y freehold

land and buildings
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Fair value model
At July 1st  166,250  164,700 
Disposals  (5,700)  -   
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property  14,700  1,550 
At June 30th  175,250  166,250 

Basis of valuation
> Investment property comprises a number of offices, commercial and industrial properties rented to third parties. 

> Investment property is measured at fair value in the group’s statement of financial position and categorised as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as it has been 
valued using observable market data. > It is the group’s policy to engage independent external valuers to determine the market value of its investment property 
at June 30th. The group provides information to the valuers, including current lease and tenant data along with asset-specific business plans. The valuers use 
this and other inputs including market transactions for similar properties to produce valuations. These valuations and the assumptions they have made are then 
discussed and reviewed with the management team and directors. > Valuation fees are a fixed amount agreed between the group and the valuers in advance of 
the valuation and are not linked to the valuation output.

> An independent valuation of the properties was carried out at June 30th 2019 by Ricardo Ramiah Isabel, Sworn Surveyor and Real Estate Appraiser to determine 
their Open Market Value, using the Direct Market (‘sales’) Approach and the Depreciated Replacement Cost Approach. > The group’s land and buildings have 
been revalued at their fair value. > In the case of Le Caudan Waterfront, the value determined by the valuer has been based on the assumption that the property 
is sold as a bulk. > Transfers into and out of investment property are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

> Bank borrowings are secured by floating charges on the assets of the borrowing companies, including investment property (note 13).

Amounts recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Rental income  240,499  238,994  5,098  5,126 
Direct operating expenses arising from investment 
   property that generates rental income  71,482  52,284  80 256
Direct operating expenses arising from investment
   property that did not generate rental income  -    68  -    68 
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 4 intangible assets

T H E  G R O U P computer goowill customer total
MRs000 note software list

Cost
At July 1st 2018  9,788  -    2,105  11,893 
Acquisition through business combination 29  54  -    -    54 
Additions  1,966  10,435  -    12,401 
Disposal  (54)  -    -    (54)
At June 30th 2019  11,754  10,435  2,105  24,294 

Amortisation
At July 1st 2018  6,513  -    2,105  8,618 
Acquisition through business combination 29  28  -    -    28 
Amortisation charges  473  -    -    473 
Disposal  (54)  -    -    (54)
At June 30th 2019  6,960  -    2,105  9,065 

Net book values
At June 30th 2019  4,794  10,435  -    15,229 

Cost
At July 1st 2017  6,874  -    2,105  8,979 
Additions  3,018  -    -    3,018 
Disposal  (104)  -    -    (104)
At June 30th 2018  9,788  -    2,105  11,893 

Amortisation
At July 1st 2017  6,386  -    1,053  7,439 
Amortisation charges  155  -    1,052  1,207 
Disposal  (28)  -    -    (28)
At June 30th 2018  6,513  -    2,105  8,618 

Net book values
At June 30th 2018  3,275  -    -    3,275 

>  The addition in goodwill during the year is in respect of the acquisition of the additional 50% stake in Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd.

T H E  C O M P A N Y computer software
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Cost
At July 1st  2,052  1,070 
Additions  387  982 
Disposal (54) -
At June 30th  2,385  2,052 

Amortisation 
At July 1st  1,012  986 
Amortisation charges  115  26 
Disposal  (54) -
At June 30th  1,073  1,012 

Net book values
At June 30th  1,312  1,040 

>  Amortisation charges of MRs0.473m for the group (2018: MRs1.207m) and MRs0.115m for the company (2018: MRs0.026m) has been included in 
operating expenses.
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 5 investments in subsidiary companies

level 1 level 3
T H E  C O M P A N Y listed unquoted total total 
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Valuation
At July 1st  1,314,639  359,272  1,673,911  1,624,218 
(Decrease)/increase in fair value  (60,863)  (18,754)  (79,617)  49,693 
At June 30th   1,253,776  340,518  1,594,294  1,673,911 

> Listed subsidiaries have been valued at their market prices at the reporting date or if not quoted on that day, the last preceding market price. > The directors 
have valued the unquoted subsidiaries on the net assets basis. 

A  The list of the group’s subsidiaries

propor tion of ownership interest
nominal non-

class of cost of value of stated direct effective controlling main
June 2019 shares investment investment capital holding holding interests business

MRs000 MRs000 MRs000 % % %

Best Sellers Limited ordinary  -    -    25  -    70.62  29.38 dormant
Caudan Communauté limited by  0.50  0.50  1  50.00  50.00  50.00 Management of

guarantee CSR fund (not
consolidated)

Caudan Development Limited ordinary  977,846  1,217,258  2,000,000  60.86  70.62  29.38 property
Caudan Leisure Ltd ordinary  -    -    1,000  -    70.62  29.38 leisure&property
Caudan Performances Limited (note 1) ordinary  25  25  25  -    70.62  29.38   creative, arts 

and  
entertainment 

activities 
Caudan Security Services Limited ordinary  -    -    10,000  -    70.62  29.38 security
Commercial Holding Limited ordinary  154,809  600  600  100.00  100.00  -   investment
Ferryhill Enterprises Ltd ordinary  177,618  143,332  143,332  100.00  100.00  -   investment
Harbour Cruise Ltd ordinary  -    -    300  -    70.62  29.38 dormant
Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd (note 2) ordinary  3,718  20  20  -    70.62  29.38   security
Security & Property Protection Agency Co Ltd ordinary  -    -    10,000  -    70.62  29.38 security
SPPA CO Ltd ordinary  -    -    26  -    70.62  29.38 security
Société Mauricienne d'Entreprise Générale Ltée ordinary  -    -    3,000  -    70.62  29.38 dormant

Note 1  Caudan Performances Limited was incorporated during the year.

Note 2  During the year, Security & Property Protection Agency Co Ltd acquired the remaining 50% holding from FS Systems International, thereby increasing its 
stake to 100%.
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 5 investments in subsidiary companies  continued

propor tion of ownership interest
nominal non-

class of cost of value of stated direct effective controlling main
June 2018 shares investment investment capital holding holding interests business

MRs000 MRs000 MRs000 % % %

Best Sellers Limited ordinary  -    -    25  -    70.62  29.38 dormant
Caudan Communauté limited by  0.50  0.50  1  50.00  50.00  50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 Management of

guarantee CSR fund (not
consolidated)

Caudan Development Limited ordinary  977,846  1,217,258  2,000,000  60.86  70.62  29.38 property
Caudan Leisure Ltd ordinary  -    -    1,000  -    70.62  29.38 leisure&property
Caudan Security Services Limited ordinary  -    -    10,000  -    70.62  29.38 security
Commercial Holding Limited ordinary  154,809  600  600  100.00  100.00  -   investment
Ferryhill Enterprises Ltd ordinary  177,618  143,332  143,332  100.00  100.00  -   investment
Harbour Cruise Ltd ordinary  -    -    300  -    70.62  29.38 dormant
Security & Property Protection Agency Co Ltd ordinary  -    -    10,000  -    70.62  29.38 security
SPPA CO Ltd ordinary  -    -    26  -    70.62  29.38 security
Société Mauricienne d’Entreprise Générale Ltée ordinary  -    -    3,000  -    70.62  29.38 dormant

> All the above subsidiaries are incorporated and operate in Mauritius except for SPPA CO Ltd which is incorporated and operates in Seychelles. > All the above 
companies have June 30th as their financial year end except for Caudan Communauté which is December 31st. None of the subsidiaries have debt securities.

B  Subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

Details for subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests

MRs000
profit accumulated

 allocated to non-controlling
non-controlling  interests 

interests during  at June 30th
2 0 1 9 the year
Caudan Development Limited (Group)  64,275  1,200,881 

2 0 1 8
Caudan Development Limited (Group)  30,433  1,162,901 
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C  Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

(i) Summarised statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

MRs000
current non- current non- revenue profit other total 
assets current liabilities current for the compre- compre-

assets liabilities year hensive hensive
income for income for

2 0 1 9 the year the year
Caudan Development Limited (Group)   105,933  5,083,922  336,296  766,148  503,309  218,772  (4,159)  214,613 

2 0 1 8
Caudan Development Limited (Group)  154,037  4,390,960  392,992  193,865  481,870  103,584  (469)  103,115 

(ii) Summarised cash flow information

MRs000
operating investing financing net 
activities activities activities decrease

in cash
and cash

equivalents
2 0 1 9
Caudan Development Limited (Group)  56,057  (531,499)  440,000  (35,442)

2 0 1 8

Caudan Development Limited (Group)  161,722  (269,843)  59,579  (48,542)

>  The summarised financial information above is the amount before intra-group eliminations.
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 6 investments in associates

A

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Share of net assets  6,040,671  6,155,014 
Goodwill  154,253  163,280 
At June 30th  6,194,924  6,318,294 

 share of net  goodwill  total total
note  assets 

At July 1st  6,155,014  163,280  6,318,294  6,607,085 
Dividend in specie  317  -    317  -   
Additions during the year  16,023  -    16,023  9,732 
Disposals during the year  (4,211)  -    (4,211)  -   
Impairment loss 23  (678)  -    (678)  -   
Gain on bargain purchase  -    -    -    12,357 
Share of profit/(loss) after tax for the year  136,491  -    136,491  (166,566)
Dividends received  (306,869)  -    (306,869)  (151,049)
Reclassification  9,027  (9,027) - -
Other equity movements  35,557  -    35,557  6,735 
At June 30th  6,040,671  154,253  6,194,924  6,318,294 

B  Associates of Promotion and Development
percentage held

     ownership interest
    & voting power nature of

June 2019 year end class of shares direct* effective business

Cathedral Development Limited June ordinary  20.00  20.00 property holding
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée June ordinary  10.46  29.24 wholesale/retail & property

holding  
Enterprise Data Services Ltd December ordinary  20.00  20.00 communication & technology
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited June ordinary  20.97  20.97 tourism, commerce

 & property development
Le Caudan Waterfront Casino Ltd December ordinary  -    27.68 leisure
MFD Group Limited December ordinary  30.55  30.55 warehousing & distribution 

facilities
Medine Limited June ordinary  35.10  35.10 agriculture, property, education,

leisure & hospitality
Mer Rouge Trading December ordinary  24.55  24.55 trading in the freeport
Properties 8502 Ltd  June ordinary  33.33  33.33 property holding
Rey and Lenferna Limited December ordinary  20.00  20.00 engineering/contracting
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Associates of Promotion and Development
percentage held

     ownership interest
        & voting power nature of

June 2018 year end class of shares direct* effective business

Cathedral Development Limited June ordinary  20.00  20.00 property holding
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée June ordinary  10.46  29.24 wholesale/retail & property

holding  
Enterprise Data Services Ltd December ordinary  20.00  20.00 communication & technology
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited June ordinary  20.97  20.97 tourism, commerce

 & property development
Industrial and Hotel Equipment Manufacturers Ltd March ordinary  33.33  33.33 manufacturing
Le Caudan Waterfront Casino Ltd December ordinary  -    27.68 leisure
MFD Group Limited December ordinary  30.53  30.53 warehousing & distribution 

facilities
Medine Limited June ordinary  35.10  35.10 agriculture, property, education,

leisure & hospitality
Mer Rouge Trading December ordinary  24.55  24.55 trading in the freeport
Metinox Ltd March ordinary  33.33  33.33 manufacturing
Mill N Turn Services Ltd March ordinary  33.33  33.33 manufacturing
Rey and Lenferna Limited December ordinary  20.00  20.00 engineering/contracting

> All the above associates are accounted for using the equity method. > All the above named companies are incorporated in Mauritius.

>  For those associates having different reporting dates, management accounts have been prepared as at June 30th 2019 or at a date not more than three 
months preceding June 30th 2019.

* Direct holding includes PaD and its 100% owned subsidiary, Commercial Holding Limited.
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6 investments in associates continued

C  Summarised financial information
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the material associates current non- assets current non- liabilites revenue profit/ other total dividends share of

assets current classified liabilities current classified (loss) comprehen- comprehen- paid during dividends
assets as held for liabilities as held for for the sive sive the year received

MRs000 sale sale year income for income for during the
2 0 1 9 the year the year  year
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  12,238  360,637  -    12,163  10,772  -    144,659  (26,985)  -    (26,985)  -    -   
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  191,517  1,394,961  63,925  127,343  29,044  52,052  366,811  105,703  (50,829)  54,874  772,113  161,912 
MFD Group Limited  241,743  2,332,541  -    479,465  720,457  -    834,070  78,031  -    78,031  48,000  14,664 
Medine Limited  940,681  21,636,782  145,512  1,729,142  5,990,209  346,569  1,747,151  265,700  95,805  361,505  309,750  108,722 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  1,208,195  669,359  -    1,189,375  181,942  -    1,883,688  (8,508)  24,916  16,407  20,012  4,002 

 
2 0 1 8
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  58,882  408,088  -    55,564  34,481  -    144,985  5,987  4,882  10,869  -    -   
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  495,207  2,026,166  -    292,064  70,105  -    620,148  208,847  219,915  428,762  109,308  22,919 
MFD Group Limited  283,242  2,344,083  -    714,826  568,168  -    738,626  161,962  43,180  205,142  82,500  25,187 
Medine Limited  963,791  21,021,942  -    4,324,374  3,052,000  -    1,542,100  (756,700)  (146,400)  (903,100)  278,300  97,683 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  1,075,660  756,384  -    1,061,439  260,765  -    1,810,810  (7,404)  (7,320)  (14,724)  -    -   

>  The summarised financial information above represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs adjusted 
where necessary, to exclude the non-controlling interests’ share and for equity accounting purposes such as fair value adjustments made at the time of acqui-
sition and adjustments for differences in accounting policies.

 

D  Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements

MRs000
opening profit/ other com- impact of dividends closing direct interest in goodwill carrying 

net assets (loss) prehensive change in paid during net assets ownership associates Value
July 1st for the income for shareholding the year Interest

2 0 1 9 year the year by associates
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  376,925  (26,985)  -    -    -    349,940 10.46%  36,604  -    36,604 
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  2,159,203  105,703  (50,829)  -    (772,113)  1,441,964 20.97%  302,380  408  302,788 
MFD Group Limited  1,344,331  78,031  -    (48,000)  1,374,362 30.55%  419,868  117,086  536,954 
Medine Limited  14,596,546  265,700  95,805  (4,076)  (309,750)  14,644,225 35.10%  5,140,123  5,187  5,145,310 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  509,840  (8,508)  24,916  -    (20,012)  506,236 20.00%  101,247  31,572  132,819 

2 0 1 8
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  366,056  5,987  4,882  -    -    376,925 10.46%  39,426  -    39,426 
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  1,839,749  208,847  219,915  -    (109,308)  2,159,203 20.97%  452,785  408  453,193 
MFD Group Limited  1,221,689  161,962  43,180  -    (82,500)  1,344,331 30.53%  410,424  117,086  527,510 
Medine Limited  15,777,946  (756,700)  (146,400)  -    (278,300)  14,596,546 35.10%  5,123,388  5,187  5,128,575 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  524,564  (7,404)  (7,320)  -    -    509,840 20.00%  101,968  31,572  133,540 
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6 investments in associates continued

C  Summarised financial information
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the material associates current non- assets current non- liabilites revenue profit/ other total dividends share of

assets current classified liabilities current classified (loss) comprehen- comprehen- paid during dividends
assets as held for liabilities as held for for the sive sive the year received

MRs000 sale sale year income for income for during the
2 0 1 9 the year the year  year
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  12,238  360,637  -    12,163  10,772  -    144,659  (26,985)  -    (26,985)  -    -   
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  191,517  1,394,961  63,925  127,343  29,044  52,052  366,811  105,703  (50,829)  54,874  772,113  161,912 
MFD Group Limited  241,743  2,332,541  -    479,465  720,457  -    834,070  78,031  -    78,031  48,000  14,664 
Medine Limited  940,681  21,636,782  145,512  1,729,142  5,990,209  346,569  1,747,151  265,700  95,805  361,505  309,750  108,722 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  1,208,195  669,359  -    1,189,375  181,942  -    1,883,688  (8,508)  24,916  16,407  20,012  4,002 

 
2 0 1 8
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  58,882  408,088  -    55,564  34,481  -    144,985  5,987  4,882  10,869  -    -   
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  495,207  2,026,166  -    292,064  70,105  -    620,148  208,847  219,915  428,762  109,308  22,919 
MFD Group Limited  283,242  2,344,083  -    714,826  568,168  -    738,626  161,962  43,180  205,142  82,500  25,187 
Medine Limited  963,791  21,021,942  -    4,324,374  3,052,000  -    1,542,100  (756,700)  (146,400)  (903,100)  278,300  97,683 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  1,075,660  756,384  -    1,061,439  260,765  -    1,810,810  (7,404)  (7,320)  (14,724)  -    -   

>  The summarised financial information above represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs adjusted 
where necessary, to exclude the non-controlling interests’ share and for equity accounting purposes such as fair value adjustments made at the time of acqui-
sition and adjustments for differences in accounting policies.

 

D  Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount recognised in the financial statements

MRs000
opening profit/ other com- impact of dividends closing direct interest in goodwill carrying 

net assets (loss) prehensive change in paid during net assets ownership associates Value
July 1st for the income for shareholding the year Interest

2 0 1 9 year the year by associates
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  376,925  (26,985)  -    -    -    349,940 10.46%  36,604  -    36,604 
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  2,159,203  105,703  (50,829)  -    (772,113)  1,441,964 20.97%  302,380  408  302,788 
MFD Group Limited  1,344,331  78,031  -    (48,000)  1,374,362 30.55%  419,868  117,086  536,954 
Medine Limited  14,596,546  265,700  95,805  (4,076)  (309,750)  14,644,225 35.10%  5,140,123  5,187  5,145,310 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  509,840  (8,508)  24,916  -    (20,012)  506,236 20.00%  101,247  31,572  132,819 

2 0 1 8
Compagnie Mauricienne de Commerce Limitée  366,056  5,987  4,882  -    -    376,925 10.46%  39,426  -    39,426 
Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  1,839,749  208,847  219,915  -    (109,308)  2,159,203 20.97%  452,785  408  453,193 
MFD Group Limited  1,221,689  161,962  43,180  -    (82,500)  1,344,331 30.53%  410,424  117,086  527,510 
Medine Limited  15,777,946  (756,700)  (146,400)  -    (278,300)  14,596,546 35.10%  5,123,388  5,187  5,128,575 
Rey and Lenferna Limited  524,564  (7,404)  (7,320)  -    -    509,840 20.00%  101,968  31,572  133,540 
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 6 investments in associates  continued 

E  Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Opening carrying amount of interests  36,050  34,890 
Additions during the year  16,023  -   
Disposals during the year  (4,211)  -   

 47,862  34,890 
Share of profit for the year  1,760  6,649 
Share of other comprehensive income  8,997  (229)
Share of total comprehensive income  10,757  6,420 
Impairment losses  (678)  -   
Dividend received during the year  (17,491)  (5,260)
Closing carrying amount of interests  40,450  36,050 

level 1 level 3
T H E  C O M P A N Y dem quoted unquoted total total 
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Valuation
At July 1st  3,345,720  228,143  3,573,863  3,303,754 
Additions  -    16,023  16,023  9,732 
Dividend in specie  307  -    307  -   
Disposals  -    (12,677)  (12,677)  -   
(Decrease)/increase in fair value  (469,138)  (4,576)  (473,714)  260,377 
At June 30th  2,876,889  226,913  3,103,802  3,573,863 

>  Associates quoted on the DEM market have been valued at their market prices at the reporting date or if not quoted on that day, the last preceding market price. 
The group has valued the unquoted associates classified as level 3,on an earnings, dividend yield, net assets or cost basis as appropriate.

The fair value of the investments in associates, based on DEM quoted prices at the close of business on June 30th

level 1
MRs000 class of shares 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Excelsior United Development Companies Limited  ordinary  325,613  545,555 
MFD Group Limited  ordinary  417,059  577,095 
Medine Limited ordinary  2,134,217  2,223,070 

  2,876,889  3,345,720 
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7 investments in joint venture

A

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 8

Share of net assets -
 

Cost   
At July 1st and June 30th  10 

Share of post acquisition reserves  
At July 1st and June 30th  (10)   

At June 30th   -   

> The investment in joint venture has been reduced to nil given that the entity’s share of losses exceeded its interests.

B  Details of the joint venture at the end of the reporting period

 class of  year end   nature of  country of  proportion of
 shares business incorporation interest and

and place of voting rights
2 0 1 8 business held
Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd ordinary June security Mauritius 50%

>  In 2018, Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd was a jointly controlled entity by our subsidiary Security and Property Protection Agency Co Ltd (SPPA) and 
FS Systems International Ltd, a company incorporated in Mauritius as a GBL Category 1 company. It was accounted for using the equity method. > During the 
year, Security & Property Protection Agency Co Ltd acquired the remaining 50% holding from FS Systems International, thereby increasing its stake to 100%. 

   > The existing stake was remeasured at the acquisition date and a gain on remeasurement amounting to MRs3.708m was booked (note 29). 

C  Summarised financial information

> The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with ifrss.

MRs000
 non- current current non- revenue profit  other  total
 current assets liabilites current for the comprehen- comprehen-

assets liabilites year sive income sive income
2 0 1 8 for the year for the year
Integrated Safety and Security 
Solutions Ltd 

615 5,593  8,438    14  19,056 145 - 145
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7 investments in joint venture  continued

D  Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount in the financial statements

MRs000
 opening profit other closing unrecog- ownership interest in cummulative
 net assets for the comprehen- net nised interest joint share of

July 1st year sive income assets losses venture unrecognised
for the year losses

2 0 1 8
Integrated Safety and Security 
Solutions Ltd 

 (2,389)  145  -    (2,244)  (2,244) 50%  -    (1,122)

 8 financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

(i)   Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

T H E T H E
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y
2 0 1 9

At July 1st  2,271,270  2,271,270 
Dividend in specie  118,735  114,546 
Additions  187,348  187,348 
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income  124,177  124,198 
At June 30th  2,701,530  2,697,362 

(ii)   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include the following: 

T H E T H E
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y
2 0 1 9

Quoted
Equity securities – [Mauritius]  2,363,066  2,358,898 
Equity securities – [South Africa]  200,000  200,000 

Unquoted
Equity securities – [Mauritius]  138,464  138,464 

 2,701,530  2,697,362 

(iii)   Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include the Group’s and the Company’s strategic equity investments not held 
for trading. The Group and the Company made an irrevocable election to classify the equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income rather 
than through profit or loss because this is considered to be more appropriate for these strategic investments. The current portion relates to those assets the 
Group and the Company expect to sell within the next 12 months. In 2018, the Group and the Company had designated the investments as available-for-sale 
where management intended to hold them for the medium to long-term. See note 8A.

(iv)   In assessing the fair value of unquoted financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, the group uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the reporting date. The fair value of unquoted financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income is based on the earnings, dividend yield and net asset basis as appropriate. > The fair value of quoted securities is based on published market 
prices at the end of the reporting period or if not quoted on that day, the last preceding market price.
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 8 financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  continued

(v)   Fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets include the following:  

T H E T H E
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y
2 0 1 9

Quoted (Listed and DEM): Equity Securities (Mauritius)
MCB Group Limited  2,041,719  2,039,247 
New Mauritius Hotels Limited - Ordinary  10,633  10,258 
New Mauritius Hotels Limited - Preference  2,329  2,247 
Plastic Industry (Mtius) Ltd  20,727  20,727 
Innodis Ltd  17,634  17,011 
The United Basalt Products Ltd  10,365  9,999 
United Docks Ltd  865  865 
Swan Life Ltd  34,658  34,658 
Tropical Paradise Co Ltd - Ordinary  104,994  104,994 
Tropical Paradise Co Ltd - Preference  55,500  55,500 
Phoenix Investment Company Ltd  26,469  26,469 
Compagnie Immobiliere Limitée  16,245  16,245 
C-Care (Mauritius) Ltd  7,057  7,057 
Livestock Feed Ltd - Ordinary  7,003  6,756 
Livestock Feed Ltd - Preference  79  76 
Forges Tardieu Ltd  6,789  6,789 
At June 30th  2,363,066  2,358,898 

Quoted: Equity Securities (South Africa)
Brainworks Limited  200,000  200,000 

Unquoted: Equity securities (Mauritius)  138,464   138,464 

Total  2,701,530    2,697,362 

(vi)   Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are denominated in the following currencies: 

T H E T H E
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y
2 0 1 9

Mauritian Rupees  2,501,530  2,497,362 
South African Rand  200,000  200,000 

 2,701,530  2,697,362 
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 8 A  investments in financial assets

(a)   The movement in investments in financial assets may be summarised as follows: 

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y available-for-sale financial assets total
level 1 level 3

MRs000 Listed and DEM quoted unquoted 2 0 1 8

Valuation
At July 1st 2017  2,142,602  111,111  2,253,713 
Increase in fair value  9,652  7,905  17,557 
At June 30th 2018  2,152,254  119,016  2,271,270 

(b)   Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

MRs000 2 0 1 8

Equity securities-at fair value:
- Listed and DEM quoted  2,152,254 
- Unlisted  119,016 
Total available-for-sale financial assets  2,271,270 

> All available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in mauritian rupees.

(c)   The table below shows the changes in level 3 instruments:

MRs000 2 0 1 8

Available-for-sale equity securities
Opening balance  111,111 
Gains recognised in
- other comprehensive income  7,905 
Closing balance  119,016 

 9 inventories

T H E  G R O U P  
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Spares and accessories  1,163  1,844 
Operating equipment  1,072  -   
Food and Beverages  816 -
Consumables  2,083  1,308 
Work in progess  1,476  1,112 
Goods for resale  5,802  4,964 

 12,412  9,228 

Cost of inventories recognised as expense in profit or loss
Cost of sales  22,646  15,263 
Operating expenses  4,251  5,995 

> The bank borrowings are secured by floating charges over the assets of the group including inventories.
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 10 trade and other receivables

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Trade receivables  156,197  121,922  40,868  31,486 
Dividend receivable from subsidiary companies  -    -    59,830  59,830 
Dividend receivable from associates  76,889  79,663  73,644  76,294 
Less: provision for impairment on trade receivables  (55,709)  (43,698)  (201)  (201)
Trade receivables - net  177,377  157,887  174,141  167,409 
Amounts owed by subsidiary companies  -    -    -    4,607 
Amounts owed by joint venture/associates  -    4,557  -    259 
Prepayments  -    2,666  -    374 
Payments on account  -    66,927  -    1,836 
Income tax receivable  -    1,888  -    -   
Other receivables  -    26,689  -    100 

 177,377  260,614  174,141  174,585 
Less non-current portion:
Trade receivables  (1,653)  (2,571)  -    -   
Current portion  175,724  258,043  174,141  174,585 

> The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair values. 

(i)   Impairment of trade receivables 

> The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receiv-
ables.

> To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

> The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before June 30th 2019 or July 1st 2018 respectively and the 
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Company has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the 
countries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in 
these factors.

> On that basis, the loss allowance as at June 30th 2019 and July 1st 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined by applying the different expected loss rates 
calculated for each age bucket, including the amount receivable for the current month, to the gross carrying amount of trade receivables, net of collaterals.

> The expected loss rates of the different age buckets vary between 3% to 97% and the closing loss allowance amounted to MRs15.295m (2018: MRs23.492m) 
for the Group.

> There has been no impact for the Company’s retained earnings and equity.
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 10 trade and other receivables  continued

> The closing loss allowances (including specific loss allowance) for trade receivables as at June 30th 2019 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

At June 30th 2018 (IAS 39)  43,698  66,092  201  201 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  6,204  -  -    -   
Loss allowance as at July 1st 2018 (IFRS 9)  49,902  66,092  201  201 
Net loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year  5,807  (5,270)  -    -   
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  -    (17,124)  -    -   
At June 30th 2019  55,709  43,698  201  201 

> In 2018, the impairment of trade receivables was assessed based on the incurred loss model. Individual receivables which were known to be uncollectible were 
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. The other receivables were assessed collectively to determine whether there was objective evidence that an 
impairment had been incurred but not yet been identified.  For these receivables the estimated impairment losses were recognised in a separate provision for 
impairment. 

(ii)   The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Rupee  175,625  258,043  174,141  174,585 
US Dollar  99  -    -    -   

 175,724  258,043  174,141  174,585 

(iii)   The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group holds collaterals, which 
include cash deposits and bank guarantees from tenants.

(iv)   In 2018, trade receivables were recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables was established when there was objective evidence that the Group would not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
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 10A  other financial assets at amortised cost

(a)   

T H E T H E 
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y 
2 0 1 9

Amounts owed by subsidiary companies  -    3,612 
Amounts owed by associates  2,734  2,734 
Payments on account  2,351  -   
Other receivables  29,659  10,031 

 34,744  16,377 
Less: Loss allowance  (4,046)  -   

 30,698  16,377 

> These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Company. Interest may be charged at commercial rates where the 
terms of repayment exceed six months. Collateral is not normally obtained.

(b)   Impairment and risk exposure

(i)   The loss allowance (including specific loss allowance) for other financial assets at amortised cost as at June 30th 2018 reconciles to the opening loss allow-
ance on July 1st 2018 and to the closing loss allowance as at June 30th 2019 as follows: 

T H E 
G R O U P 

MRs000

Loss allowance at June 30th 2018 (IAS 39) 3,148
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 233
Loss allowance at July 1st 2018 (IFRS 9) 3,381
Allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 665
Loss allowance at June 30th 2019 4,046

> The Group and the Company has related party transactions, carried at arm’s length, with its subsidiaries and associates. Based on these entities’ previous 
repayment behaviours, the Group and the Company does not expect any default from them and is certain of their ability to pay their debts as they become due 
in the normal course of business and/or in any adverse economic and business conditions. Consequently, these entities have not been included in the expected 
credit losses calculation.

(ii)   All of the financial assets at amortised cost are denominated in Mauritian Rupees. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign currency risk.

 10B  other assets

T H E T H E 
MRs000 G R O U P C O M P A N Y 
2 0 1 9

Prepayments  7,676  1,509 
Income tax receivable  9,200  -   

 16,876  1,509 
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 11 share capital

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y share treasury
MRs000 capital shares 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

At July 1st  194,854  (104)  194,750  194,659 
Shares held as treasury  -    (267)  (267) -
Exercise of share options  -    -    -    91 
At June 30th   194,854  (371)  194,483  194,750 

Number

At July 1st  38,970,645  (20,885)  38,949,760  38,931,866 
Shares held as treasury  -    (53,493)  (53,493)  -   
Exercise of share options  -    -    -    17,894 
At June 30th   38,970,645  (74,378)  38,896,267  38,949,760 

> The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 42,500,000 shares (2018: 42,500,000) with a par value of MRs5 per share (2018: MRs5 per share). All issued 
shares are fully paid. > No share options were exercised during the year. > The options outstanding at June 30th 2019 under ESOS have an exercise price in the 
range of MRs98.00 to MRs109.00 and a weighted average contractual life of 3 1/2 months.  > During the year, 53,493 PaD own shares were received from EUDCOS 
following a distribution of some of its investments. These shares were held as treasury shares.

 12 other reserves

T H E  G R O U P share fair value fair value translation capital actuarial total
premium reserve through reserve reserves loss

other com-
prehensive

income
MRs000 reserve

At July 1st 2018  175,289  1,621,813  -    (122)  5,028,894  (3,898)  6,821,976 
Dividend in specie held as treasury  (5,724)  -    -    -    -    -    (5,724)
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations  -    -    -    -    -    (2,579)  (2,579)
Group’s share of movement in reserves of associates  -    -    -    -    36,871  -    36,871 
Transfer  -    (1,621,813)  1,621,813  -    (138,990)  -    (138,990)
Changes in fair value of financial assets through other
   comprehensive income  -    -    124,177  -    -    -    124,177 
Currency translation differences  -    -    -    108  -    -    108 
At June 30th 2019  169,565  -    1,745,990  (14)  4,926,775  (6,477)  6,835,839 

T H E  C O M P A N Y share fair value fair value actuarial total
premium through  gain

other com-
prehensive

income
MRs000 reserve

 At July 1st 2018  175,289  -    3,524,943  266  3,700,498 
Dividend in specie held as treasury  (5,724)  -    -    -    (5,724)
Transfer  -    1,621,813  (1,632,294)  -    (10,481)
Decrease in fair value of subsidiaries  -    -    (79,617)  -    (79,617)
Decrease in fair value of associates  -    -    (473,714)  -    (473,714)
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations  -    -    -    466  466 
Changes in fair value of financial assets through other
   comprehensive income  -    124,198  -    -    124,198 
At June 30th 2019  169,565  1,746,011  1,339,318  732  3,255,626 
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 12 other reserves  continued

Share premium   
The share premium account includes the difference between the value of shares issued and their nominal value.

Fair value reserves   
Fair value reserves comprise the cumulative net change in fair value of investments in subsidiaries and associates that have been recognised in other comprehen-
sive income until the investments are derecognised or impaired.

Fair value through other comprehensive income reserves   
The fair value through other comprehensive income reserves comprise the cumulative net change in fair value of financial assets through other comprehensive 
income until the financial assets are derecognised or impaired.

Translation of foreign operations   
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.

Capital reserves   
Capital reserves comprise of all the movement arising in the reserves of associates.

Actuarial loss   
The actuarial loss reserve represents the cumulative remeasurement of retirement benefit obligation recognised.

 13 borrowings

A

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 note 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Bank overdrafts  (a)  493,956  366,398  408,262  318,012 
Loan from associates  26,100  -    26,100  -   
Bank loans  1,170,000  650,000  650,000  650,000 

 1,690,056  1,016,398  1,084,362  968,012 

Current
Bank overdrafts  493,956  366,398  408,262  318,012 
Loan from associates  26,100  -    26,100  -   

 520,056  366,398  434,362  318,012 

Non-current
Bank loan (b)  1,170,000  650,000  650,000  650,000 

Total borrowings  1,690,056  1,016,398  1,084,362  968,012 

(a)  Bank overdrafts
The bank overdrafts are secured by floating charges over the assets of the borrowing companies.

(b)  The maturity of non-current borrowings
 T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Between one year and two years  36,000  -    -    -   
Between two years and three years  113,000  -    65,000  -   
Between three years and five years  250,500  130,000  130,000  130,000 
After five years  770,500  520,000  455,000  520,000 

 1,170,000  650,000  650,000  650,000 

> The bank loans are secured by floating charges over the assets of the borrowing companies.
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 13 borrowings  continued

B   The exposure of the borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

6 months or less  520,056  366,398  434,362  318,012 
1-5 years  399,500  130,000  195,000  130,000 
Over 5 years  770,500  520,000  455,000  520,000 

 1,690,056  1,016,398  1,084,362  968,012 

C   The effective interest rates at the reporting date were

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
% 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Bank overdrafts  5.75  5.75  5.75  5.75 
Bank borrowings  5.75  5.75  5.75  5.75 

d   The carrying amounts of borrowings are not materially different from their fair values.

 14 deferred tax 

There is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets and liabilities when the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same fiscal authority of the same entity. The following amounts are shown in the statements of financial position.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, deferred tax (credit)/charge in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are attributable to the 
following items

balance as adjustment on balance as acquisition (credit)/ (credit)/ balance as
at July 1st initial at July 1st through charge charge at June 30th

2018 application of 2018 business to profit to  other 2019
(as previously IFRS 9 - (as restated) combination or loss comprehen-

reported) Financial sive income
T H E  G R O U P Instruments
MRs000 

Deferred tax assets
Provisions  (14,583)  (1,095)  (15,678)  10  (1,482)  (788)  (17,938)
Tax losses  -    -    -    (605)  (7,662)  -    (8,267)

 (14,583)  (1,095)  (15,678)  (595)  (9,144)  (788)  (26,205)

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances  94,667  -    94,667  18  9,536  -    104,221 
Fair value gains  84,976  -    84,976  -    34,780  -    119,756 

 179,643  -    179,643  18  44,316  -    223,977 

Net deferred tax  165,060  (1,095)  163,965  (577)  35,172  (788)  197,772 
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 14 deferred tax  continued 

balance as acquisition charge/ (credit)/ balance as
at July 1st through (credit) charge at June 30th

2018 business to profit or to other 2019
(as restated) combination loss  comprehen-

sive income
T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances  4,804  -    249  -    5,053 
Provisions  (4,221)  -    284  95  (3,842)
Fair value gains  4,524  -    (53)  -    4,471 

 5,107  -    480  95  5,682 

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Deferred tax assets  (26,205)  (14,583)  -    -   
Deferred tax liabilities  223,977  179,643  5,682  5,107 

 197,772  165,060  5,682  5,107 

> Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method at 17% (2018: 17%).

Movement in the deferred income tax account  
 

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 notes 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

At July 1st - As previously reported  165,060  141,380  5,107  4,420 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  30  (1,095)  -    -    -   
At July 1st - As restated  163,965  141,380  5,107  4,420 
Acquisition through business combination  29  (577)  -    -    -   
Charge to profit or loss  20  35,172  23,901  480  813 
(Credit)/charge to other comprehensive income  (788)  (221)  95  (126)
At June 30th  197,772  165,060  5,682  5,107 
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 15 retirement benefit obligations

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 notes 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Amounts recognised in the statements of financial position 
Pension benefits 15A  21,683  22,790  20,840  21,969 
Other post retirement benefits (gratuity on retirement) 15B  31,863  24,789  168  1,240 

 53,546  47,579  21,008  23,209 
Analysed as follows
Current liabilities  16  19,057  8,783  18,214  7,962 
Non-current liabilities  34,489  38,796  2,794  15,247 

 53,546  47,579  21,008  23,209 
Amounts charged to profit or loss
Pension benefits 15(v)  16,142  15,313  6,553  5,997 
Other post retirement benefits (gratuity on retirement) 15B  4,709  4,437  160  1,240 
Total included in employee benefit expense  20,851  19,750  6,713  7,237 

Amounts charged/(credited) to other comprehensive income
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations 15(vi)  671  739  671  739 
Remeasurement of other post retirement benefit obligations 15B  3,963  557  (1,232)  -   

 4,634  1,296  (561)  739 

A   Pension benefits

(i)  The group contributes to a defined benefit pension. The plan is a final salary plan,which provides benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level of 
pension payable for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement.

    The assets of the fund are held independently and administered by a superannuation fund.

     The most recent actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations were carried out at June 30th 2019, by AON Hewitt 
Ltd. The present value of the defined benefit obligations, and the related current service cost and the past service cost, were measured using the Projected 
Unit Credit Method.

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Amounts recognised in the statements of financial position 
Present value of funded obligations  109,130  100,161  109,130  100,161 
Fair value of plan assets  (90,136)  (80,068)  (90,136)  (80,068)
Deficit of funded plans  18,994  20,093  18,994  20,093 
Present value of unfunded obligations  1,846  1,876  1,846  1,876 
Total deficit of defined benefit pension plans  20,840  21,969  20,840  21,969 
Defined contributions outstanding  843  821  -    -   
Liability in the statements of financial position  21,683  22,790  20,840  21,969 

(ii) Reconciliation of the opening balances to the closing balances

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Balance as at July 1st  22,790  24,054  21,969  23,252 
Amount recognised to profit or loss  16,142  15,313  6,553  5,997 
Amount recognised to other comprehensive income  671  739  671  739 
Employer contribution  (17,920)  (17,316)  (8,353)  (8,019)
At June 30th  21,683  22,790  20,840  21,969 



(iii) Movement in the defined benefit obligations over the year 

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

At July 1st  102,037  91,430 
Current service cost  4,639  4,048 
Interest expense  6,419  5,933 
Other benefits paid  (315)  (300)
Liability experience (gain)/loss  (4,383)  1,701 
Liability experience gain due to change in demographic assumptions  -    (735)
Liability loss/(gain) due to change in financial assumptions  2,579  (40)
At June 30th  110,976  102,037 

(iv) Movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

At July 1st  80,068  68,178 
Interest income  5,251  4,638 
Employer contributions  7,334  7,098 
Benefits paid  (43)  (33)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income  (2,474)  187 
At June 30th  90,136  80,068 

(v) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Current service costs  14,974  14,018  5,385  4,702 
Net interest on net defined benefit liability  1,168  1,295  1,168  1,295 
Total included in employee benefit expense  16,142  15,313  6,553  5,997 

> The service cost and the net interest expenses for the year is included in the operating expenses in profit or loss.

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Actual return on plan assets 2,777  4,825 

(vi) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Return on plan assets above interest cost  2,474  (187)
Liability experience (gain)/loss  (4,383)  1,701 
Liability experience gain due to change in demographic assumptions  -    (735)
Liability loss/(gain) due to change in financial assumptions  2,580  (40)
Components of amount recognised in other comprehensive income  671  739 

> The actuarial (gain)/loss on retirement benefit obligations is included in other comprehensive income.
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 15 retirement benefit obligations  continued

(vii)  Fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y
% 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

The assets in the plan
Equity - local  33.0  32.0 
Debt - overseas  2.0  3.0 
Debt - local  22.0  17.0 
Property - local  5.0  3.0 
Investment funds  25.0  32.0 
Other  13.0  13.0 
Total  100.0  100.0 

> Pension plan assets include the company’s ordinary shares with a fair value of MRs0.77m (2018: MRs0.80m). > The assets of the plan are invested in shares, 
bonds (foreign and local) and property. The expected return on plan assets was determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underly-
ing the current investment policy. > Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields at the end of the reporting period. 
> Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced  in the respective markets.

(viii)  Principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes
 

2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Discount rate (%)  6.0  6.3 
Future salary increases (%)  4.5  4.8 
Future pension increases (%)  3.3  3.3 
Average retirement age (ARA) (years)  63.0  63.0 
Average life expectancy:
-Male at ARA (years)  17.3  17.3 
-Female at ARA (years)  21.7  21.7 

(ix)  Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period
 
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Increase in benefit obligation at the end of period resulting from a 1% decrease in discount rate  13,695  13,280 
Decrease in benefit obligation at the end of period resulting from a 1% increase in discount rate  11,124  10,808 

> The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at the end of the reporting period after increasing or decreas-
ing  the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. Any similar variation in the other assumptions would have shown smaller variations in 
the defined benefit obligation. > The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the 
change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
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(x)       The defined benefit pension plan exposes the group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest rate risk, investment risk and salary risk.

            Longevity risk
            The plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in 

the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan liability.

            Interest rate risk
            A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt 

investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on salary and pension increases.

            Investment risk
            The plan liability is calculated by using a discount rate determined by reference to government bond yields; if the return on plan assets is below this rate, it 

will create a plan deficit and if it is higher, it will create a plan surplus.

            Salary risk
            The plan liability is calculated by reference to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants 

above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability whereas an increase below the assumed rate will decrease the liability.

(xi)     The funding policy is to pay contributions to an external legal entity at the rate recommended by the entity’s actuaries.

(xii)   The group expects to pay MRs18.214m in contributions to its post-employment benefit plans for the year ending  June 30th 2020.

(xiii)  The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 11 years at the end of the reporting period (2018: 12 years).

B   Other post retirement benefits (gratuity on retirement)

Other post retirement benefits comprise severance allowances payable under the Employment Rights Act 2008 (as amended).

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Movement in the severance allowances   
At July 1st  24,789  21,397 
Gratuity on retirement paid  (863)  (867)
Benefits paid  (735)  (735)
Amount charged to profit or loss  4,709  4,437 
Amount charged to other comprehensive income  3,963  557 
At June 30th  31,863  24,789 

T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Movement in the severance allowances   
At July 1st  1,240  -   
Amount charged to profit or loss  160  1,240 
Amount credited to other comprehensive income  (1,232)  -   
At June 30th  168  1,240 
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 16 trade and other payables

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 note 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Dividend payable to non controlling interests  23,504  23,504  -    -   
Social security and other taxes  4,317  4,937  402  680 
Retirement benefit obligations  15  19,057  8,783  18,214  7,962 
Advance monies   34,711  32,402  402  120 
Other payables - construction costs   78,433  173,435  -    -   
Other payables  72,147  67,071  25,802  21,230 
Total trade and other payables  232,169  310,132  44,820  29,992 

> Trade and other payables are interest free and have settlement dates within one year. > The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their 
fair values.

 16A contract liabilities

T H E  G R O U P  
MRs000 2 0 1 9

Opening balance restated - transfer from trade and other payables  1,524 
Amount included in contract liabilities that was recognised as revenue during the year  (1,919)
Cash received (or rights to cash) in advance of performance and not recognised as revenue during the year  2,082 

 1,687  

> Contract liabilities arise from sales and installation of alarm system, whereby control is transferred only upon commissioning of the alarm system and user ac-
ceptance, at which point the Group will have a present right to payment (as a single payment on delivery) and retains none of the significant risks and rewards of 
the goods in question and cumulative payments received from customers at each balance sheet date do not necessarily equal the amount of revenue recognised 
on the contracts.

> No prior year adjustments have been made to the balance of contract liabilities as upon adoption of IFRS 15, there have been no change in the way of recognis-
ing deferred income. 

 17 dividend paid and proposed

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Interim ordinary dividend of MRe1.15 per share paid in February 2019 (2018:MRe1.00)  44,792  38,950 
Interim ordinary dividend of MRs2.65 per share paid in August 2019  103,075  -   
Final dividend of MRs2.60 per share paid in August 2018  -    101,269 
Total ordinary dividend of MRs3.80 per share (2018: MRs3.60)  147,867  140,219 

>   On June 28th 2019, the Directors declared an interim dividend of MRs2.65 per share in respect of the year ended June 30th 2019. > During the year, there has 
been a change in the dividend policy payout whereby the dividend proposed in June is now considered to be an interim distribution. > A final dividend will be 
declared following approval of the financial statements.
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 18 finance income and costs

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Finance costs
Bank overdrafts  31,241  15,758  22,044  15,394 
Bank and other loans repayable by instalments  50,378  37,913  39,303  40,061 
Foreign exchange transaction loss  1,016  2  962  -   
Total finance costs  82,635  53,673  62,309  55,455 

Foreign exchange transaction gain  (163)  (178)  -    (61)
Finance income  (770)  (841)  (1,862)  (2)
Total finance income  (933)  (1,019)  (1,862)  (63)

Net finance costs  81,702  52,654  60,447  55,392 

 19 profit before taxation

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y

MRs000 notes 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Profit before taxation is arrived at after crediting
Rent from properties 3  240,499  238,994  5,098  5,126 
Sale of goods  24,353  18,418  -    -   
Sale of services  231,266  225,654  -    -   
Dividend income
- listed  78,762  67,132  127,377  115,823 
- DEM quoted  7,378  6,762  160,461  146,407 
- unquoted  4,662  4,592  25,274  23,767 
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,208  557  -    -   
and charging
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  111  52  4  -   
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 2  25,061  21,019  5,268  5,126 
Operating lease rentals  5,951  4,384  1,660    -   
Amortisation of intangibles 4  473  1,207  115  26 
Employee benefit expense  278,999  260,117  46,185  44,960 

A   Analysis of employee benefit expense

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Wages and salaries  246,916  229,568  38,714  37,002 
Social security costs  11,232  10,799  758  721 
Retirement benefits  20,851  19,750  6,713  7,237 

 278,999  260,117  46,185  44,960 
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 20 taxation

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 note 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Based on the profit for the year, as adjusted for tax purposes, at 15%  4,101  10,841  1,465  639 
(Overprovision)/underprovision of tax in previous year  (68)  899  5  -   
Corporate social responsibility  547  2,666  195  153 
Deferred tax charge 14  35,172  23,901  480  813 
Charge to profit or loss  39,752  38,307  2,145  1,605 

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
% 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Applicable income tax rate  15.00  15.00  15.00  15.00 
Impact of
Expenses not allowable  4.32  (51.01)  4.61  8.37 
Balancing allowance -  (0.20)  -    -   
Other differences  (2.94)  13.70  0.01  0.01 
Exempt income  (3.63)  34.48  (18.48)  (22.83)
Income not subject to tax  (1.06)  1.77  (0.60)  (0.10)
Associates' results reported net of tax  (4.99)  (67.74)  -    -   
Deferred tax rate differential on CSR tax  1.16  -  -    -   
Underprovision of tax in previous year  -  (2.64)  -    -   
Unrecognised deferred tax liability -  (47.48)  -    0.32 
Unutilised tax losses  1.68  (0.25)  -    -   
Corporate social responsibility  0.13  (7.81)  0.05  0.08 
Actual income tax rate  9.69  (112.18)  0.59  0.85 

 21 other comprehensive income

> Other comprehensive income comprises movement in the fair value reserves, fair value through other comprehensive income reserves, translation reserves, 
capital reserves of associates and the actuarial loss reserves.

 22 A  earnings/(loss) per share

>   Earnings/(loss) per share is calculated on the basis of the group (loss)/profit for the year divided by the weighted average number of shares  in issue and rank-
ing for dividends.

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent  306,372  (102,888)
Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year  38,936,387  38,944,737 
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22 B  adjusted earnings/(loss) per share

>   Adjusted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated on the adjusted earnings/(loss) (to remove the effect of unusual revenue and expenses and one-time influ-
ences) divided by the number of shares in issue and ranking for dividends.

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent  306,372  (102,888)
Gain on remeasurement of equity interests  (2,619)  -   
Profit on disposal of associates  (8,466)  -   
Impairment loss in associate  678  -   
Gain on bargain purchase  -    (12,357)
Share of profit from discontinued operations by associates  (518)  (7,902)
Impairment losses by associates  -    141,479 
Compensation from customer by associate  -    (44,779)
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiary by associates  (6,389)  (3,127)
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property (net of non- controlling interests and deferred tax)  (141,342)  (8,617)
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property by associates  1,573  (8,524)
Adjusted earnings/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent  149,289  (46,715)
Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year  38,936,387  38,944,737 

 23 retained earnings

holding subsidiary associated consolidation the
MRs000 company companies companies adjustment* group

At July 1st 2018 ( as previously reported)  2,934,541  1,251,579  360,458  (875,160)  3,671,418 
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  -    (3,773)  -    -    (3,773)
At July 1st 2018 ( as restated)  2,934,541  1,247,806  360,458  (875,160)  3,667,645 
Profit for the year  362,510  102,195  (170,378)  4,257  298,584 
Profit on disposal of associates  -    -    -    8,466  8,466 
Impairment loss - -  (678) -  (678)
Dividend  (147,867)  -    -    -    (147,867)
Group's share of movement of associates  -    -    146  -    146 
Impact of change in shareholding  -    -    (1,462)  (1,462)
Transfer  10,481  -    138,990  (10,481)  138,990 
At June 30th 2019  3,159,665  1,350,001  327,076  (872,918)  3,963,824 

* The consolidation adjustment is mainly in respect of the release of fair value on dissolution, impairment of associates, gain on remeasurement of equity 
interests and changes in ownership in subsidiary that do not result in loss of control.

 24 non-recurring items

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y 
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Exceptional dividend from associate  -    -    16,023  -   

Dividend in specie following distribution by associate  -    -    120,843  -   

  -    -    136,866  -   
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25 segment reporting

Business segments

2 0 1 9 

MRs000 property shares security other eliminations total

Revenues

External sales  248,846  90,804  255,619  3,812  -    599,081 
Intersegment sales  4,800  378,720  27,701  23,436  (434,657)  -   
Total revenues  253,646  469,524  283,320  27,248  (434,657)  599,081 

Segment result  75,860  434,371  5,551  -    (391,060)  124,722 
Share of results of associates  182,629  12,714  (58,852)  136,491 

 258,489  447,085  5,551  (58,852)  (391,060)  261,213 
Finance income  933 
Finance costs  *  (82,635)
Net impairment losses on financial assets  (6,472)
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property  225,864 
Profit on disposal of associates  8,466 
Impairment loss  (678)
Gain on remeasurement of equity interests  3,708 
Profit before taxation  410,399 
Taxation  (39,752)
Profit for the year  370,647 
Attributable to

 Owners of the parent  306,372 
 Non-controlling interest  64,275 

 370,647 

MRs000 property shares security other eliminations total

Segment assets  5,375,517  2,815,631  97,130  -   -  8,288,278 
Associates  38,137  302,798  -    5,853,989 -  6,194,924 

 5,413,654  3,118,429  97,130  5,853,989 -  14,483,202 

Segment liabilities  1,558,027  571,385  55,688  -   -  2,185,100 
Dividend proposed  103,075 

 2,288,175 

Capital expenditure  518,991  2,230  13,899  -    (9,752)  525,368 
Depreciation and amortisation  12,852  2,692  9,990  -    -    25,534 
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Business segments

2 0 1 8

MRs000 property shares security other eliminations total

Revenues

External sales  238,992  78,486  244,065  2,236  -    563,779 
Intersegment sales  4,800  221,465  18,158  20,207  (264,630)  -   
Total revenues  243,792  299,951  262,223  22,443  (264,630)  563,779 

Segment result  113,923  265,658  106  -    (229,500)  150,187 
Share of results of associates  30,203  22,617  -    (219,386)  -    (166,566)

 144,126  288,275  106  (219,386)  (229,500)  (16,379)
Finance income  *  1,019 
Finance costs  *  (53,673)
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property  16,504 
Gain on bargain purchase  12,357 
Net impairment on financial assets  6,024 
Profit before taxation  (34,148)
Taxation  (38,307)
Profit for the year  (72,455)
Attributable to

 Owners of the parent  (102,888)
 Non-controlling interest  30,433 

 (72,455)

MRs000 property shares security other total

Segment assets  4,727,426  2,376,871  78,580  -    7,182,877 
Associates and jointly controlled entities  22,071  453,203  -    5,843,020  6,318,294 

 4,749,497  2,830,074  78,580  5,843,020  13,501,171 

Segment liabilities  998,916  511,547  38,394  -    1,548,857 
Dividend proposed  101,269 

 1,650,126 

Capital expenditure  301,542  794  71,129  -    373,465 
Depreciation and amortisation  14,092  2,576  5,558  -    22,226 

Geographical segments

No material revenues were derived from customers outside Mauritius. All of the non current assets are found in Mauritius.

The associates have been allocated on the basis of their own relevant proportion to different segments of the group.

*  Finance costs and finance income are not included in the measure of segment profit or loss as reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.
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25 segment reporting  continued

Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues

In prior years, segment information reported externally was analysed on the basis of activities undertaken by each of the group’s operating divisions and the 
same information was provided to management.

The group’s reportable segments under ifrs 8

Segment Activity
Property Rental income, income from other operating activities
Shares Dividend income

Security Security and property protection services and sales of equipment

Other operations include management fee contract between the company and its subsidiaries and also other activities of the group’s associates.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. Intersegment sales and 
transfers are accounted as if the sales or transfers were to third parties at current market prices.

Factors that management used to identify the entity’s reportable segments

Reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They are managed separately because each business requires differ-
ent technology and marketing strategies.

Basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments
The group has presently no policy in respect of transfer pricing.

The group’s customer base is highly diversified with no individually significant customer.

 26 commitments and contingencies

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y 

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

A   Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the 

   financial statements

Investment in financial assets at fair value through other comrpehensive income  49,000  -    49,000 -

Contractual obligations for future capital works  10,000  -   - -

Investments in available-for-sale financial assets  -    210,850  -    210,850 

Investment property  -    480,773  -    -   

Property, plant and equipment including intangible assets  -    22,564  -    198 
 59,000  714,187  49,000  211,048 
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 26 commitments and contingencies  continued

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

B   Operating leases - where the group is the lessor

Future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases
Not later than 1 year  162,499  152,292  5,460  4,365 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  218,842  219,670  4,397  7,865 
Later than 5 years  102,478  66,927  -    -   

 483,819  438,889  9,857  12,230 

 > The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. > There are no restrictions imposed on the group by the lease arrangements.

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

C   Contingencies

Contingent liabilities
Bank guarantees to third parties  3,965  3,500 
Bank guarantees to third parties on behalf of joint venture  -  283 

 3,965  3,783 

 27 related party transactions
 

MRs000 payment in purchase sale finance manage- loans amount amount emolu-
respect of of goods of goods income/ ment (from)/ owed to owed by ments

investment or or (costs) fees to related related and
property services services income/ and parties parties benefits

(expense) overdrafts
T H E  G R O U P
2 0 1 9

Associates  -  (2,286)  33,489  (1,928)  3,788  (26,100)  (841)  9,116  -   
Shareholders with significant influence  -    (3,479)  14,684  (79,674)  (2,358) (1,663,956)  (4,264)  7,475  -   
Joint venture in which the group is a

 venturer  -    (11)  471  (83)  108  -    -    -  -   
Directors and key management personnel  -    -    260  -    -    -    -    55  46,762 
Enterprises in which directors/key

 management personnel (and close
 families) have significant interest  -    (94)  744  -    -    -    -    -    -   

2 0 1 8

Associates  (551)  (1,886)  35,700  -    2,212  -    (73)  7,995  -   

Shareholders with significant influence  -    (5,540)  11,961  (53,658)  (1,245) (1,016,397)  (1,856)  4,692  -   

Joint venture in which the group is a

 venturer  -    (997)  5,257  146  216  (1,500)  -    4,297  -   

Directors and key management personnel  -   -  257  -    -    -    -    45  45,638   

Enterprises in which directors/key

 management personnel (and close
 families) have significant interest  -    (117)  2,374  -    -    -    -    -  -   
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 27 related party transactions continued

MRs000 purchase sale finance manage- loans amount amount emolu-
of goods of goods income/ ment (from)/ owed to owed by ments

or or (costs) fees to related related and
services services income/ and parties parties benefits

(expense) overdrafts
T H E  C O M P A N Y
2 0 1 9

Associates  (607)  -    (1,928)  3,788  (26,100)  (841)  2,734  -   
Shareholders with significant influence  (2,818)  -    (59,419)  (2,358) (1,058,262)  (4,114)  -    -   
Subsidiary  (83)  3,932  1,549  23,436  -    -    3,612  -   
Directors and key management personnel  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    35,323 
Enterprises in which directors/key

 management personnel (and close
 families) have significant interest   (81)   -  -    -    -    -    -    -   

2 0 1 8

Associates  (212)  -    -    2,212  -    -    259  -   

Shareholders with significant influence  (1,441)  -    (53,299)  (1,245)  (968,012)  (1,709)  -    -   

Subsidiary  (97)  3,932  (2,148)  20,207  -    -    4,607  -   

Directors and key management personnel  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    34,616   

Enterprises in which directors/key

 management personnel (and close 
 families) have significant interest   (80)   -  -    -    -    -    -    -   

> There were no significant contracts or transactions during the year involving the company or its subsidiaries and the directors or their related parties outside the 
ordinary course of business. There is a management fee contract between the company and our subsidiary, Caudan Development Limited. The management fees 
charged to Caudan Development Limited are equivalent to (1) 5% of the net income after operating costs, but before interest, depreciation and tax, (2) 2.5% of 
the cost of construction and capital works, excluding professional fees, government fees and interest, (3) agents fees equivalent to one months’ basic rental on 
securing new tenants, half month’s basic rental on new contracts with existing tenants and 2% of gross consideration in respect of sales of property. > The key 
management personnel compensation consists only of salaries and employment benefits. > There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related 
party receivables or payables. At June 30th 2019, the amount owed by related parties was not impaired (2018: nil). > Loan to related parties are unsecured and 
bears interest at 3.925%-5.75% per annum. > During the year, no share options were exercised by key management personnel, including executive directors.
(2018: 17,834).

Key management personnel compensation

T H E  G R O U P T H E  C O M P A N Y
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8

Remuneration and other benefits relating to key management personnel, including directors
Salaries and short term employee benefits 41,310 40,438 31,004 30,471

Post employment benefits 5,452 5,200 4,319 4,145
 46,762    45,638    35,323    34,616   
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 28 three year summary of published results and assets and liabilities

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 7

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Turnover  599,081  563,779  571,065 
Profit before taxation  410,399  (34,148)  185,849 
Share of results of associates and joint venture  136,491  (166,566)  85,203 
Gains on bargain purchases  -    12,357  -   
Taxation  (39,752)  (38,307)  (19,613)
Profit for the year  370,647  (72,455)  166,236 
Non-controlling interests  64,275  30,433  23,386 
Profit attributable to owners of the parent  306,372  (102,888)  142,850 
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent  465,095  (79,540)  649,624 
Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent  149,289  (46,715)  116,296 
Rate of dividend (%)  76.00  72.00  65.00 
Dividend per share (MRs)  3.80  3.60  3.25 
Earnings/(loss) per share (MRs)  7.87  (2.64)  3.67 
Adjusted earnings/(loss) per share (MRs)  3.83  (1.20)  2.99 
Net assets value (MRs)  282.65  274.41  280.14 

MRs000 2 0 1 9 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 7

Statement of financial position
Non-current assets  14,245,248  13,233,578  13,129,638 
Current assets  237,954  267,593  248,283 
Total assets  14,483,202  13,501,171  13,377,921 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent  10,994,146  10,688,144  10,906,180 
Non-controlling interests  1,200,881  1,162,901  1,156,110 
Non-current liabilities  1,428,466  868,439  833,125 
Current liabilities  859,709  781,687  482,506 
Total equity and liabilities  14,483,202  13,501,171  13,377,921 
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 29 business combinations

(a)   Subsidiary acquired

principal date of proportion of
activity acquisition voting

equity
interests
acquired

Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd security services 01 Jan 19 50%

> During the year, Security & Property Protection Agency Co Ltd acquired the remaining 50% holding from FS Systems International, thereby increasing its stake 
to 100%. > Total consideration transferred amounted to MRs3,708,424.

(b)   Consideration transferred

MRs000

Cash 3,708 
Total consideration 3,708 

(c)   Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

MRs000 notes

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 2 127 
Intangible assets 4 26 
Deferred tax asset 14 577 

Current assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,931 
Trade and other receivables 2,136 
Inventories 2,443 

Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables (10,208) 

Non-current liabilities  
Retirement benefit obligations (51) 

Total identifiable net assets (3,019)
Goodwill acquired 10,435 
Gain on remeasurement of equity interests (3,708)
Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 3,708 

(d)   Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary

MRs000

Consideration paid in cash 3,708 
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  (1,931)

 1,777 
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 29 business combinations continued

(e)   Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

As from the acquisition date, Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd’s revenue of MRs6,207,352 and loss of MRs387,391 have been included in the con-
solidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the reporting period.

If the acquisition were to have occurred on July 1st 2018, the Group’s revenue and loss for the year would have increased by MRs2,035,887 and MRs774,332 
respectively. 

 30 changes in accounting policies

(a)   Impact on the financial statements

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 were adopted without restating comparative information. Any adjustments arising from the new accounting policies are not reflected in the 
comparatives year ended June 30th 2018 but are recognised in the opening reserves on July 1st 2018. 

The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each individual line item.

T H E  G R O U P June 30th 2018 IFRS 15 IFRS 9 July 1st 2018
MRs000 note restated

Balance sheet (extract)  
Non-current assets  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  -    -    2,271,270  2,271,270 
Investment in financial assets  2,271,270  -    (2,271,270)  -   
Deferred tax assets 14  14,583  -    1,095  15,678

Current assets  
Trade and other receivables  258,043  -    (108,931)  149,112 
Financial assets at amortised costs  -    -    97,940  97,940 
Other assets  -    -    4,554  4,554 

Equity and liabilities  
Retained earnings  3,671,418  -    (3,773)  3,667,645 
Non-controlling interests  1,162,901  -    (1,569)  1,161,332 

Current liabilities  
Contract liabilities  -    1,524  -    1,524 
Trade and other payables  310,132  (1,524)  -    308,608 

T H E  C O M P A N Y June 30th 2018 IFRS 9 July 1st 2018
MRs000 restated

Balance sheet (extract)  
Non-current assets  
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  -    2,271,270  2,271,270 
Investment in financial assets  2,271,270  (2,271,270)  -   

Current assets  
Trade and other receivables  174,585  (7,176)  167,409 
Financial assets at amortised costs  -    6,802  6,802 
Other assets  -    374  374 
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 30 changes in accounting policies continued

The impact on the retained earnings as at July 1st 2018 is as follows:

T H E  G R O U P
MRs000

Retained earnings June 30th 2018   10,688,144    

Adjustments from adoption of IFRS 9  
Increase in provision for trade receivables  (6,204)
Increase in provision for financial assets at amortised cost  (233)
Increase in deferred tax assets relating to impairment provisions  1,095 
Decrease in non-controlling interests  1,569 

 (3,773)
Restated retained earnings July 1st 2018  10,684,371 

(b)   IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

(i)   Classification and measurement

On July 1st 2018, management has assessed which business models apply to the financial assets held and has classified its financial instruments into the ap-
propriate IFRS 9 categories. 

The impact of the changes on the equity is as follows:
effect effect

T H E  G R O U P  A N D  T H E  C O M P A N Y on AFS on FVOCI
MRs000 note reserves reserve

Opening balance - IAS 39  1,621,813  -   
Reclassify non-trading equities from available-for-sale to FVOCI (a)  (1,621,813)  1,621,813 

 -    1,621,813 

Opening balance - IFRS 9  -    1,621,813 

(a) Equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale 

The Group and the Company elected to present in OCI changes in the fair value of all its equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale, because 
these investments are held as long-term strategic investments that are not expected to be sold in the short to medium term. As a result, assets with a fair value 
of MRs2.271m were reclassified from available-for-sale financial assets to financial assets at FVOCI and fair value gains of MRs1.622m were reclassified from the 
available-for-sale financial assets reserve to the FVOCI reserve on January 1st 2018. 

On the date of initial application, July 1st 2018, the financial instruments of the Group and the Company were as follows, with any reclassifications noted: 

T H E  G R O U P measurement category carrying amount
original new original new difference
(IAS 39) (IFRS 9)

MRs000

Non-current financial assets  
Equity securities Available-for-sale FVOCI  2,271,270  2,271,270  -   

Current financial assets  
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost  258,043  149,112  108,931 
Other financial assets at amortised costs Amortised cost Amortised cost  -    97,940  (97,940)
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T H E  C O M P A N Y measurement category carrying amount
original new original new difference
(IAS 39) (IFRS 9)

MRs000

Non-current financial assets  
Equity securities Available-for-sale FVOCI  2,271,270  2,271,270  -   

Current financial assets  
Trade and other receivables Amortised Amortised  174,585 167409  7,176 

cost cost

Other financial assets at amortised costs Amortised Amortised  -    6,802  (6,802)
cost cost

(ii)   Impairment of financial assets

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. The impact of the change in impairment methodol-
ogy on the Group’s retained earnings and equity is disclosed above. 

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial. 

Trade receivables 
The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. This 
resulted in an increase of the loss allowance on July 1st 2018 by MRs6.204m for trade receivables.

The loss allowance increased by a further MRs5.807m to MRs55.709m for trade receivables during the current reporting period.

(c)   IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers
No prior year adjustments have been made to the balances as at July 1st 2018 except for reclassification as per part (a).

(i)   Presentation of assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has changed the presentation of certain amounts in the balance sheet to reflect the terminology of IFRS 15 and IFRS 9:
> Contract liabilities in relation to project contracts were previously included in trade and other payables.

(ii) Had the Group continued to report in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue for the year ended June 30th 2019, the reported figures would not have changed sig-
nificantly.

 31 Events after reporting date

>   On September 27th 2019, the Company declared a final dividend of MRs1.30 per share for the year ended June 30th 2019 which will be paid in December 2019. 
Total dividend per share for the year June 30th 2019 stood at MRs5.10 (2018: MRs3.60).
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 directors of subsidiaries

Directors of subsidiaries holding office at the end of the reporting period

Caudan Development Limited
Jean-Philippe Coulier (appointed December 2018)
Jean-Pierre Montocchio (up to December 2018) 
Assad Abdullatiff
Bertrand de Chazal 
Stéphanie de la Hogue (appointed April 2018)
Catherine Fromet de Rosnay 
Gilbert Gnany  
René Leclézio  
Jocelyne Martin
Seedha Lutcheemee Nullatemby 
Philippe Raffray (appointed June 2019)
Antoine Seeyave (up to December 2018)
Bernard Yen    

Caudan Leisure Ltd and Ferryhill Enterprises Ltd
René Leclézio
Jocelyne Martin

Caudan Performances Limited
René Leclézio
Ashish Beesoondial

Caudan Security Services Limited
René Leclézio
Jocelyne Martin 
Mooroogassen Soopramanien 

Security and Property Protection Agency Co Ltd
René Leclézio
Dhunpathlall Bhima
Bertrand de Chazal
Deepak K. Lakhabhay
Jocelyne Martin  
Mooroogassen Soopramanien

SPPA CO Ltd
Deepak K. Lakhabhay 
Mooroogassen Soopramanien  

Integrated Safety and Security Solutions Ltd
Deepak K. Lakhabhay 
Mooroogassen Soopramanien  

Harbour Cruise Ltd
René Leclézio

Société Mauricienne d’Entreprise Générale Ltée and
Best Sellers Limited
René Leclézio

Commercial Holding Limited
Jean-Francois Desvaux de Marigny
René Leclézio

Caudan Communauté
René Leclézio
Jocelyne Martin
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Dias Pier, Le Caudan Waterfront
Port Louis, Mauritius
Telephone +230 211 94 30
Fax +230 211 02 39
Email   corporate@promotionanddevelopment.com
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